
  



2 

  



3 

RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
112th ANNUAL MEETING 2023 

SCHEDULE 
Exhibi�ons & Breakfast   9:00 
Worship Gathering    10:00 
112th Annual Mee�ng   11:00 
Lunch      A�er the Mee�ng 

WORSHIP GATHERING 
Welcome and Opening Prayer     Kevin Harris, Moderator 
Announcements     

• Breath of Life Prison Ministry, Ramon Vela 
• Bap�st University of the Americas, Dr. Julio Varela 

Call to Worship – Verses: John 10:35/Luke 10:2   Pastor Jorge Sotomayor, IB Los Vecinos 
Praise & Worship       Rondalla Los Vecinos, IB Los Vecinos 
Message        Rolando Rodríguez, Texas Bap�sts en Español 

112th ANNUAL MEETING of the RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

Sea�ng of Messengers         Blanca Marinero, Clerk 
Call to Order          Kevin Harris, Moderator 
Presenta�on of the Parliamentarian & Translator 
Approval of Consent Items 

• 111th Annual Mee�ng Minutes      Blanca Marinero, Clerk 
• September 2023 Execu�ve Board Mee�ng Minutes   Blanca Marinero, Clerk 
• Associa�onal Council & Search Commitee Report    Kevin Harris, Moderator 
• September 2023 Financial Report      David Sanchez, Finance Chair 
• Church Dona�ons Advancement Report     Raul Morales, CDA Assistant 

Associa�on Ministry Reports 

• Union Femenil Bau�sta Misionera      Eva Torres, President 

NEW BUSINESS 
• Proposed Budget 2024        Carmen Gaytan, Treasurer 
• Nomina�ng Commitee: Elec�on of Officers & Commitees  Jorge Navarro, Nomina�ons 
• Cons�tu�on & By-Laws       Othal Brand, Cons�tu�on 

Adjournment & Prayer        Kevin Harris, Moderator 
LUNCH 

Lunch provided following the adjournment of the Annual Mee�ng compliments of 
Valley Bap�st Mission Educa�on Center 



4 

ASOCIACIÓN BAUTISTA DEL VALLE DEL RÍO GRANDE 
112ª REUNIÓN ANUAL 2023 

HORARIO 
Exposiciones y Desayuno  9:00 
Reunión de Adoración   10:00 
112ª Reunión Anual    11:00 
Almuerzo     después de la reunión 

CULTO DE ADORACIÓN 

Bienvenida y Oración de Apertura     Kevin Harris, Moderador 
Anuncios 

• Ministerio de Prisiones Aliento de Vida, Ramón Vela 
• Universidad Bau�sta de las Américas, Dr. Julio Varela 

Llamado al Culto – Verses: Juan 10:35/Lucas 10:2    Pastor Jorge Sotomayor, IB Los Vecinos 
Alabanza y Adoración       Rondalla Los Vecinos, IB Los Vecinos 
Mensaje         Rolando Rodríguez, Texas Bap�sts en Español 

112ª REUNIÓN ANUAL DE LA ASOCIACIÓN BAUTISTA DEL VALLE DEL RÍO GRANDE 
ORDEN DEL DIA 

Asiento de los Mensajeros         Blanca Marinero, Secretaria 
Llamada al Orden         Kevin Harris, Moderador 
Presentación del Parlamentario y Traductor 
Aprobación de Asuntos de Consen�miento 

• Actas del 111ª Reunión Anual      Blanca Marinero, Secretaria 
• Actas de la Junta Execu�ve de Sep�embre 2023    Blanca Marinero, Secretaria 
• Informe del Consejo de la Asociación y del Comité de Búsqueda  Kevin Harris, Moderator 
• Informe Financiero de Sep�embre 2023     David Sanchez, Finanzas 
• Informe de Avance de las Donaciones de las Iglesias   Raul Morales, CDA Assistant 

Informes de los Ministerios de la Asociación 
• Union Femenil Bau�sta Misionera      Eva Torres, Presedenta 

NUEVOS ASUNTOS 

• Proyecto de presupuesto 2024      Carmen Gaytan, Tesorera 
• Comité de nominaciones: Elección de cargos y comités    Jorge Navarro, Nominaciones 
• Cons�tución y Estatutos        Othal Brand, Cons�tución 

Clausura y Oración          Kevin Harris, Moderador 
ALMUERZO 

Almuerzo ofrecido después de la clausura de la Reunión Anual por cortesía de 
Valley Bap�st Mission Educa�on Center



5 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Agenda          3 

Table of Contents         5 

RGV Bap�sts Church Directory       7 

Cons�tu�on & By-Laws (English)       11 

Cons�tu�on & By-Laws (Spanish)       19 

111th Annual Mee�ng Minutes (English)       29 

Acta de la 111ª reunión anual (Español)       33 

Execu�ve Board Minutes - September 28, 2023 (English)    39 

Actas de la Junta Ejecu�va - 28 de sep�embre de 2023 (Español)   43 

Associa�onal Council & Search Commitee Reports (English)    47 

Informes del Consejo de Asociación y el Comité de Búsqueda (Español)  48 

Director of Missions Job Descrip�on (English)     49 

Descripción del puesto de Director de Misiones (Español)    53 

September 2023 Financial Report       57 

Church Dona�ons Advancement Report (English)     63 

Informe del Avance de las donaciones de las Iglesias (Español)   65 

2023 Church Dona�ons Report       67 

Associa�on Ministry Reports 

• Union Femenil Bau�sta Misionera Report (English)    71 
• Informe de la Union Femenil Bau�sta Misionera (Español)   73 

Ministry Partner Reports 

• Texas Bap�sts         75 
• STCH Report (English)        77 
• Informe de STCH (Español)       78 

New Business Items 

2024 Proposed Budget        81 

Nomina�ng Commitee Report (English)      83 

Informe del Comité de Nominaciones (Español)     84 

2024 Proposed Officers & Commitees Directory     85 

Proposed Cons�tu�on & By-laws (English)      87 

Propuesta de Estatutos y Reglamentos (Español)     103 

 



6 

 

  

 



7 

 



8 

 



9 

 

 



10 



11 

CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS FOR THE 
RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 

ARTICLE I “NAME”  

The name of this body shall be RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION: and hereafter shall 
be called “ASSOCIATION”, serving Cameron, Willacy, Hidalgo, and Starr Counties.  

ARTICLE II “PURPOSE”  

The purpose of the Association shall be (1) to aid in the establishment and promotion of missionary, benevolent 
and educational work within our Association area; (2) to promote the interest of the Kingdom of Jesus Christ 
throughout the world in harmonious cooperation with the Baptist General Convention of Texas and/or the 
Southern Baptist Convention.  

ARTICLE III “MEMBERSHIP”  

SECTION A “PRINCIPLE”  

As basic principle involved in the interpretation of the term “association”, this body holds that the 
association of churches possesses a two-fold nature. This it affirms the two-fold sense in which that term 
shall be used:  

Sub. Sec. 1 – The “Association” is a common fellowship constituted from regular Baptist Churches that are in 
harmony and cooperation with the objectives set forth in these Bylaws. The word “regular” shall be construed 
to mean a church whose membership is made up wholly of individuals who have been Scripturally baptized 
into a Baptist church of like faith and order.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – As an independent autonomous body at the time authoritatively assembled, it is composed of 
messengers duly elected by the churches and from such other churches as shall be admitted to its fellowship by 
a unanimous vote of the assembled messengers at any Annual Meeting of the Association.  

SECTION B “QUALIFICATIONS”  

Sub. Sec. 1 – Churches shall be regularly constituted, independent bodies organized on generally accepted 
principles common to Southern Baptists.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – The policy of church government for each church shall be congregational so as to assure full 
and unrestricted control of (1) its membership (2) its component organizations, and (3) its officers.  

Sub. Sec. 3 – The pastors of member churches shall preach and their congregations endorse such doctrines 
generally believed by Southern Baptists to be taught in the Bible. 

Sub. Sec. 4 – Each church shall cooperate in the fellowship and purpose of the Association and shall contribute 
regularly to the financial support of the Association by giving at least $250.00 per year in undersigned 
donations to the Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association. The donations of the sponsoring church will count as a 
donation from its mission church(es).  

 



12 

Sub. Sec. 5 – Each church shall be a member of only one local association, the Rio Grande Valley Baptist 
Association.  

SECTION C “REPRESENTATION”  

Each cooperating church shall elect messengers to the Annual Meeting of the association. Churches 
shall be entitled to representation on the following basis:  

Sub. Sec. 1 – Churches with a resident membership of three hundred (300), or less, shall be entitled to 
five messengers.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – Churches with a resident membership of more than three (300) members shall be entitled to one 
(1) additional messenger for each additional one hundred (100) residents members or major fraction thereof;  

Sub. Sec. 3 – No church shall have more than fifteen (15) messengers.  

Sub. Sec. 4 – Because of the unique nature of the work of the Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association, all 
congregations, missions and churches, shall be entitled to representation on the same basis as set out in Sub. 
Sec. 1 and Sub. Sec. 2.  

SECTION D “SEATING OF MESSENGERS”  
Sub. Sec. 1 – Messengers from the churches shall be seated upon certification by the clerk of their election 
by their respective churches.  

Sub. Sec. 2 - It shall be the privilege of any member to challenge the seating of the messengers of any 
church. Such challenge must be presented in writing and may be based on only one or more of the four (4) 
qualifications set out in Section B of this article.  

Div. A – The challenged messengers shall have the right to vote until their case shall have been 
decided by a majority vote of messengers shall have the right to vote until their case shall have been 
decided by a majority vote of messengers present and voting in open session.  

Div. B – If the body wishes, the manner may be dealt with immediately with equal time being given 
to the challenged and /or challengers.  

Div. C – If, however, the body wishes to proceed with the order of the day, the matter shall be referred 
to the Committee of Credentials for study and recommendation at some other hour during the Annual 
Meeting, or at a special meeting of the Association, subsequent to the Annual Meeting.  

Div. D – In any case, the challenged messengers shall have the right of defense and /or refutation. 

SECTION E “RECEPTION INTO THE FELLOWSHIP” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – Any new church desiring representation in the Association shall be at least one year old at the time 
of the Annual Meeting of the Association. Application shall be made at least sixty (60) days before the first session 
of the Annual Meeting of the Association through a petitionary letter presented by messengers duly elected by 
the applying church, stating:  

Par. (1) – The manner by which the church was constituted; and, 

Par. (2) – That the church has adopted the 1963 Baptist Faith and Message; and, Par. (3) - That the 
church is contributing to the Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association, the Baptist General Convention of 
Texas, and/or the Southern Baptist Convention through the Cooperative Program.  



13 

Sub. Sec. 2 – A mission that has become a church must have been constituted a church at least thirty (30) days 
prior to the first session of the Annual Meeting of the Association and application shall be made at least thirty 
(30) days prior to the first session of the Annual Meeting of the Association through a petitionary letter presented 
by the messengers duly elected by the applying church.  

Sub. Sec. 3 – If the Committee on Petitionary Letters finds that the applying church or mission qualifies 
according to the requirements in Section B of this Article, it shall present its report as the first order of business 
in the first session after the Annual Meeting has been organized. The recommendation to accept the petitioning 
church will then proceed only if there is representation of that church, in the session of the same annual meeting. 
The principle of unity of fellowship among the churches, as expressed by a UNANIMOUS VOTE in the 
admission of new Churches, shall be observed. In the case of objection, the matter will be referred to the 
petitionay letters committee immediately without discussion to determine in conference with the objectors, 
whether the objection involves the matter of fellowship between or among the churches. Recommendation must 
be carried by a 75% majority roll call vote of the messengers present. The Moderator shall then extend the hand 
of fellowship for the Association.  

SECTION F “LETTERS AND REPORTS” 

Each church in the fellowship of the Association shall furnish Annual letters containing detailed information as 
to membership, finances, and statistics concerning the various organizations of the church and other such data 
revealing the spiritual condition of the reporting church. This report shall be admitted on a form approved by the 
Association.  

SECTION G “MEETINGS” 

The Association shall meet annually at such time as place as may be agreed upon by the Association. 

ARTICLE IV “JURISDICTION” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – The Association does not claim for itself any authority or ecclesiastical jurisdiction over any church 
in the fellowship either in its origin, in its act of constitution into a church or in the conduct of its own affairs.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – However, since the qualifications of a church (as set forth in Section B – Article III to hold 
membership in its fellowship are matters which involves the harmonious working together of the church, the 
Association, when authoritatively assembled, shall reserve for itself certain rights, namely:  

Div. A – It shall be the sole judge of the membership of its own body.  

Par. (1) – It shall determine in the Annual Meeting the qualifications and fitness of its own 
membership, both s to churches of the common fellowship, and as to the individual 
messengers.  

Par. (2) – It reserves the right to deny membership to the messengers of any church.  

Div. B – It shall have the right to inquire into matters involving regularity, polity spirit of the 
cooperation of a church.  

Par. (1) Following such inquiry, the church under criticism shall be given a hearing I an open 
meeting of the Association.  

 



14 

Par. (2) – To avoid fraction, the Association may recommend to any group contemplating the 
formation of a new church to seek the counsel of its officers as to the advisability of establishing 
a new church in the geographical area it proposes to locate itself.  

Div. C – It may sever its relations with any church that in its judgment, as determined in open session, 
may have erred from the faith and practice expressed in the New Testament as commonly held by Southern 
Baptist and which shall fail to meet the above qualifications for a church to hold membership in its 
fellowship.  

Par. (1) – The Association shall take such action only after the Credentials Committee has 
conferred with the church in an attempt to work out the differences.  

Par. (2) – IF a thorough and prayer guided investigation justifies, the Association may declare in 
open session the messengers of such no longer members of the Association, upon a majority vote 
of the messengers present and voting.  

SECTION B “RELATIONS OF MEMBERS CHURCHES’’  

Sub. Sec. 1 – It shall be the duty of each church in the fellowship to contribute regularity to the work of 
Baptists as fostered by:  

Div. A – The Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association  

Div. B – The Baptist General Convention of Texas  

Div. C - The Southern Baptist Convention 

Sub. Sec. 2 – Any Churches failing to contribute to such denominational missionary programs for a period of 
one year or longer shall be strongly encouraged in brotherly love to grow in the spirit of mission giving.  

ARTICLE V “OFFICERS’’  

Sub. Sec. 1 The body of the Association annually shall elect persons to serve as Moderator, Associate-Moderator, 
Clerk, Assistant Clerk, and Treasurer who shall be known as Executive Officers of the Association.  

Sub. Sec. 2 - The body shall annually elect five (5) persons to serve as Trustees for the Association.  

Sub. Sec. 3 – The body annually shall elect Administrative Officers for the component unit organizations.  

Div. A – Director of Sunday School  

Div. B – Director of Church Training  

Div. C – Director of Brotherhood  

Div. D – Director of Music  

Div. E – Director of Library Services  

Div. F – Director of Woman’s Missionary Union  

Div. G – Director of Aging  

Div. H - Director of Youth  

Div. I – Director of Winter Ministries  

Div. J – Director of Spanish Speaking Fellowship  



15 

Div. K – Director of Stewardship Promotion  

Sub. Sec. 4 – Other officers shall include the chair-person of standing Associational Committees and other 
officers as needs arise. These shall also be Administrative Officers.  

SECTION B “METHOD OF ELECTION’’  

Sub. Sec 1 – Executive Officers shall be nominated by the Nominating Committee at the First session of the 
Annual Meeting, after which opportunity shall be given for nominations from the floor. If there is more than one 
nomination for nay office, that vote shall be by ballot. They shall be elected by majority vote during the last 
session of the Annual Meeting. Those elected shall assume their office at the close of the final session of this 
meeting.  

Div. A – No person shall serve as Moderator for more than two (2) years in successive Board.  

Div. B – These shall be presented as nominees at the July meeting of the Executive Board. 

Sub. Sec. 2 – The Trustees and Administrative Officers shall be nominated by the Nominating Committee and 
elected by the Association, however, in order to facilitate the promotion of their respective programs and 
committees the directors and chairpersons shall be presented as nominated and elected on the last day of the 
Annual Meeting.  

SECTION C “FUNCTION AND DUTIES’’  

Sub. Sec. 1 – The functions duties of the Executive Officers shall include: Div. A – The Moderator shall 
preside at all meetings of the Association. He shall be an ex officio member of all committees, attending 
any and all such meetings with personal privilege of discussion as he deems necessary but without the 
power of committee vote. He also shall serve as Chairman of the Executive Board.  

Div. B – The Associate-Moderator shall preside at the meetings of the Association in the absence of the 
Moderator he shall succeed the Moderator to position of Moderator in the case of vacancy of that office. 
The Executive Board shall then elect a person to fill the vacancy of Associate – Moderator so created.  

Div. C – The Clerk shall keep accurate record of the proceedings of the Association and shall supervise 
the printing of the minutes, and attend to such work as belonging to his office.  

Div. D – The Assistant Clerk shall assist the clerk in any way deemed advisable in the dispatch of the 
Clerk’s duties. In the event the Clerk should become unable to perform his duties, this officer shall serve 
as Clerk, until the next Annual Meeting of the Association.  

Div. E – The Treasurer shall receive and disburse all funds belonging to the Association as the Association 
may direct. Monthly reports shall be furnished to the Association’s Executive Board and Annual Report 
to the Association.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – The Trustees shall be official legal representatives for the Association in all legal matters involving 
property, personal or real, and such other functions as the Executive Board may direct.  

Sub. Sec. 3 – The Administrative Officers of the organization all perform the duties ordinarily associated with 
their respective offices and shall direct and promote the work of their organizations and committees in the best 
manner possible. Although these officers are elected annually, they shall be eligible for re-election as often as it 
is mutually agreeable between such officers and the Association.  

Sub. Sec. 4 – All officers shall assume their duties at the close of the Annual Meeting and shall serve through 
the next Annual Meeting or until their successors shall be elected.  



16 

SECTION D “VACANCIES’’ 

The Executive Board shall elect successors for all vacancies occurring between the Annual Meeting of the 
Association for the remaining portion of the Associational year when no provision for filling vacancies have 
been made in these By-Laws. 

ARTICLE VI “EXECUTIVE BOARD”  
SECTION A “MEMBERSHIP” 

Sub. Sec. 1- The pastor and full-time staff members of each cooperative church, and/or the pastor of each 
Mission sponsored by a cooperating church and the officers of the Association shall be members of the Board.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – Two (2) additional Board members shall be nominated by each church and/or mission and such 
nominations shall be certified in and by that church’s Annual Letter to the Association. Churches with a resident 
membership above 500 members shall be eligible for an additional elected member for each 500 resident’s 
members, or major fraction thereof. No church shall be eligible for more than four (4) elected members.  

Div. A – Each nominee shall possess a missionary spirit and manifest a strong interest in the program of 
the Association.  

Div. B – These nominees for the Executive Board from the cooperating churches shall be subject to elect 
by the Association in its Annual Meeting.  

SECTION B “MEETINGS” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – The Executive Board shall hold monthly meetings.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – Should any special meetings be deemed necessary, the Chairman shall be empowered to call 
such meetings after a five (5) day notice to all Board members.  

SECTION C “FUNCTIONS” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – The Board shall serve as the Executive Board for the Association between its Annual Meeting 
and shall have charge of its missionary, benevolent and educational ministries. Sub. Sec. 2 – In the event of 
vacancies among the Trustees, Officers, of nay Standing Committee between Annual Meetings of the 
Association, the Nominating Committee shall recommend persons to the Board to be elected to fill the existing 
vacancies until the next Annual Meeting of the Association.  

SECTION D “OFFICERS” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – The Executive Officers for the Executive Board shall be the elected Executive Officers of the 
Association; namely, Moderator, Associate-Moderator, Clerk, Assistant Clerk and Treasurer.  

Sub. Sec. 2 - The Board shall have authority to elect and employ such Associational staff personnel as follows, 
as deemed necessary.  

Div. A – Director of Missions shall be elected by the Board to serve as long as it is mutually agreeable. 
He shall maintain the Associational office and direct such employed personnel as may be necessary for 
effective ministry of the Association in conjunction with such appropriate committees as elected by the 
Association. 



17 

Div. B – The Board shall elect and employ missions Associates as they feel may be necessary in expanding 
the total ministry of the Association. Such Elected personnel shall be responsible to the Director of 
Missions and to the Association as set forth in written job descriptions authorized by the Board.  

Div. C – The Association Missionary staff personnel shall be ex officio members of all boards and 
committees with the privilege of making recommendations and entering into all discussions but without 
the power to vote. 

SECTION E “ASSOCIATIONAL COUNCIL” 

Sub. Sec 1 – The Associational Council shall be made up of:  

Div. A – The Duly elected Executive Officers of the Association: namely Moderator, Associate 
Moderator, Clerk, Assistant Clerk, and Treasurer.  

Div. B – The duly elected Administrative Officers of the component organizations and committee 
Chairpersons as set out in Article V, Sub. Sec. 3 and Sub. Sec. 4. Div. C – The Associational Staff 
officers namely Director of Missions and Missions Associate who shall serve as ex officio members.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – This Council, in its advisory capacity, shall have no powers other than herein stated or as may be 
assigned by the Executive Board.  

Div. A – The Council shall plan the agenda for the meeting of the Executive Board, making such reports 
deemed necessary. Resolutions and Letters that are requested on behalf of the Executive Board or Rio 
Grande Valley Baptist Association will be deferred to the Associational Council for discussion. After the 
discussion the resolution or letter will be presented in writing to the subsequent Executive Board meeting 
for consideration and action.  

Div. B – The Council shall serve as the Associational Budget Committee, preparing the proposed 
Annual Associational Budget recommendations:  

Par. (1) – Such Budget recommendations shall include the necessary expenses for the Standing 
Committees.  

Par. (2) – Such Budget recommendations shall be presented to the Executive Board at least thirty (30) 
days prior to the Annual Meeting of the Association.  

Par. (3) – After approval by the Executive Board the Proposed Budget shall be presented to and for 
adoption in the Annual Meeting of the Association.  

Par. (4) – The Director of Missions or a Missions Associate shall moderate the Council. Div. C – The 
Council shall meet at such times as it shall set for itself for making adequate preparation and necessary 
reports to the stated meeting of the Executive Board. 

ARTICLE VII “AMENDMENTS” 
SECTION A “PROPOSALS” 

Any and all proposals for changes, revision and/or amendments to these By-Laws shall be presented in writing 
to the committee on By-Laws at least thirty (30) days prior to the first session of the Annual Meeting of the 
Association.  

 



18 

SECTION B “AMENDMENTS” 

Sub. Sec. 1 – Such recommended amendment or amendments shall be presented to the Association in the first 
session of the Annual Meeting by the By-Laws Committee. Sub. Sec. 2- Action on such proposed amendment 
or amendments shall be deferred to some subsequent session of this same Annual Meeting.  

Sub. Sec. 3- All such amendments shall and must be approved by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the 
messengers present and voting.  

ARTICLE VIII “ORDER OF BUSINESS”  

Sub. Sec. 1 – The latest edition of Robert’s Rule of Order shall govern the deliberation of this body.  

Sub. Sec. 2 – The Moderator may have the advice of a parliamentarian if he so chooses.  

ARTICLE IX “DISSOLUTION”  

The Association is organized and operated primarily for the purpose set forth under Article II “Purpose” of this 
Constitution. The Association is to be operated in such a way that it does not result in the accrual of distribution 
profits, realization of private gain resulting from payment of compensation in excess of a reasonable allowance 
for salary or other compensation for services rendered, or realization of any other form of private gain.  

The Association pledges its assets for use in performing the Association’s religious and charitable functions. The 
Association directs that on discontinuance of the Association by dissolution or otherwise, the assets are to be 
transferred to another religious, charitable or similar organization, that qualifies under Section 501©(3) of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the corresponding provisions of any subsequent United States 
Internal Revenue law 



19 

 



20 

 



21 

 



22 

 



23 
 



24 

 



25 
 



26 

 



27 

 



28 



29 

111th ANNUAL MEETING MINUTES OF THE RGV BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
October 29, 2022 

Calvary Bap�st Church, 1600 Harvey, McAllen, Texas 

Breakfast was offered and Ministry Exhibits opened at 9:30 am. 

10:30 am First Session 
Welcome and prayer by Senior Pastor Julio Guarneri (Calvary, McAllen). Recognized were visi�ng State Conven�on, 
Colleges, and Organiza�on representa�ves. Woody Lewis was introduced as the interpreter; and Atorney Robert 
Galligan, was named as the Parliamentarian. 

The en�re mee�ng was held bi-lingual. 

Bro. Sergio Ramos, HBCT President, greeted the Assembly. 

A video presenta�on of the work of the Associa�on was presented on the screen. (The writen gist of the presenta�on is 
on pages 48 and 49 of the Book of Reports.) 

Scripture Reading: Pastor Luis Rodriguez, Pastor at the Spanish Department of FBC, Weslaco. 

Praise and Worship: Ruben Rojas and Karla Torres from Calvary, McAllen. 

Annual Message brought by Dr. Rolando Aguirre. Topic: DiscipleShi�J Refocusing on 
Discipleship. Text: 2 Timothy 2:1-10. Chris�ans are born-again by grace, and should pass on biblical informa�on to 
others; and expect to suffer. All because they know in whom they have believed. 

11:30 am Business Session 
Sea�ng of Messengers: Clerk Domingo Quintanilla men�oned 133 messengers from 45 registered churches. 

Moderator Bro. Joe Aguilar called the mee�ng to order. 

Minutes: Clerk Domingo Quintanilla: The minutes for the Annual Mee�ng of 2021 and those of the Execu�ve Board 
Mee�ng of September 29, 2022 were reviewed. (Please see pages 20 and 21 for the Annual Mee�ng minutes; and 
pages 22 and 24 in the Book of Reports.) No ques�ons and no comments. Accepted as writen and approved by vote. 

Budget and Finance Commitee: Chair Danny Anderson reported on the budget and expenses of the Associa�on. The 
financial numbers are on pages 31 to 32. No ques�ons and no comments. Accepted as writen and approved by vote. 

Ministry Reports: Moderator Joe Aguilar men�oned that Ministry Reports on pages 33 to 38 in the Book of Reports. No 
ques�ons and no comments. Accepted as writen and approved by vote. 

Interim Leadership Team Report (I,L.T.): Chair Julio Guarneri reported the brief history of the I L. T. It was ini�ated in 
June, 2017. Pastor Julio was selected as Chair and those in the Team were: Vidal Muniz, Wade Hood, Steven Parker, Ray 
Zamora, Eloy Mendiola, Marty Watson, Adån Rodriguez, Armando Lopez, Daniel DeLeon, and Domingo Quintanilla who 
served as Interim Administrator. 

The Team changed throughout the years. 

Ini�ally, the Associa�on was in financial straits, had acquired certain debts and tax liabili�es and did not have the 
funds at the �me to accomplish the task before it. The ILT studied the situa�on and the Associa�on's history. The 
Team contacted Conven�on leaders and others to assist in its future development, 

The Team developed a report for the Execu�ve Board of January 2019. This report presented a new structure based on 
networks: Edify, Mul�ply and Dignify as concentric circles and touched each other. There would be a network of 
churches working together; as well as crea�ng a profile for the Strategy Implementa�on Director (S.I.D.). 



30 

The Team's focus was on rebuilding trust with our partners and to invest in rela�onships. More churches started 
suppor�ng the work of the Associa�on. 

Because the Associa�on was blessed financially and had some stability, the Team called Eder Ibarra as the S.I.D. 

Later on, Pastor Raul Morales was added to the RGVBA staff and works on a part-�me basis as Church Dona�ons 
Advancement. He promotes and develops strategic plans for churches to follow about financial contribu�ons by 
communica�ng RGVBA's ac�vi�es, programs, and its mission. Churches have increased in their giving. 

The ILT has concluded their assignment and the Team is announcing that today, on October 29, 2022 it is being 
dissolved. There is a smooth transi�on. And the Associa�on is poised for success. 

The Team has traveled through the Valley of Shadow of Death. There is a table set before the Associa�on. The best is 
yet to come, The Team is announcing that the I.L.T. is done. The work is on the shoulders of the leaders now in place. 

The team is affirming the call of Eder Ibarra. 

This next year we will be vo�ng for a permanent Director of Missions. It is a very important decision. And we 
should be preparing for the 2023 Family Gathering right here in the Rio Grande Valley. 

Today, there will be a presenta�on of a revised Cons�tu�on and ByLaws. We are to be inclusive and work with those 
churches that are related to the Associa�on. We have an open door. We need to work together and be mo�vated to 
keep their rela�onship. 

The Team thanks a" churches for allowing Pastor Julio Guarneri to serve as Chair. 

There were no ques�ons and no comments. The (L. T. report was accepted as presented and approved by vote. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar called on Eder Ibarra. 

Strategy Implementa�on Director Report: Bro. Ibarra men�oned that his English report was on pages 42 to 45 of the 
Book of Reports. He men�oned the progress and posi�ve steps taken with respect to the new vision of the Associa�on. 

Accomplishments were shared. And the S.I.D. posi�on will con�nue un�l July 2023. Bro Ibarra was grateful for the 
mentor(s) he has had over the past months. 

The Associa�onal Council has begun to hold mee�ngs. And the Council (Chair of each commitee) plays a significant 
role. 

Iglesia Bau�sta Southmost, Brownsville has been instrumental in allowing the S.I.D to work in an office in order to meet 
with local Cameron County pastors. 

The Associa�on is moving on with the network vision including working with Wayland U., Criswell College, Dallas Bap�st 
I.J., and other seminaries. 

The Associa�on is also partnered with B.G.C.T, to bring training for pastors and scholarships for summer student 
missionaries. 

Bro. Ibarra spoke on "Mul�plica�on"...working with pastorless churches. Due to the work of the Associa�on seven 
churches have called pastors. Please pray for these churches. There are s�ll four churches without a pastor. We thank 
Primera of McAllen for their work at Escobares. The Associa�on also provided a two hundred dollars ($200.00) 
scholarship for Vaca�on Bible School to several churches. 

Through the Hispanic Bap�st Conven�on the Associa�on has made a "conexion-network to help Hispanic pastors. There 
is a one thousand dollar ($1 ,000.00) scholarship. 



31 

Bro. Ibarra also spoke on "Dignify"...working with South Texas Children's Home (STCH) and they work with the 
community but also assists pastors. Buckner has provided backpacks and Gospel tracts. Valley Bap�st-Mission 
Educa�on Center (VB-MEC) has assisted in repairing buildings and in par�cular a pastor's mobile home. 

Bro. Ibarra men�oned that there is s�ll much to do. The Associa�on is here to promote unity and to encourage 
educa�on on Bap�st beliefs and Bap�st heritage. The Associa�on needs to promote missions and plan�ng churches. 

The Hispanic popula�on in Texas is now over fi�y percent (50%). Our Associa�on is ready for the challenge. We are 
here to equip and empower leaders. We have many Millennials, and also many called "Genera�on Z." The average age 
of Texan is 34 years. 

As of 2017, the median age of protestant pastors was 54 years old, compared to 44 years old in 1992. Today only 14% 
of Senior Pastors are younger than 40. The Associa�on is ge�ng ready to work with the next genera�on. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: This is the report by the Strategy Implementa�on Director. Are there any ques�ons or 
comments? There were no ques�ons or comments, vote taken and approved. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: Following the next presenter, ques�ons and comments will be limited to fi�een (15) minutes. 

Creden�als Commitee: Chair Ray Zamora men�oned that two churches had applied to be affiliated with the 
Associa�on. These were Rio Grande Bible Church, 2109 W. Nolana Ave., McAllen; and Sublime Gracia, 1401 S. 6th 
Street, McAllen. 

Comment: Someone from the audience asked if these churches held to the 1963 Bap�st Faith and Message. 

Chair Zamora answered that both church pastors had answered "yes" to that ques�on during their applica�on with the 
Commitee. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: Are members of these churches present? 

(Members of the Rio Grande Bible Church were present. Sublime Gracia had no representa�on. ) 

Comment: Pastor Kevin Harris men�oned that the vote to accept these churches should exclude Sublime Gracia, 
And that considera�on for Sublime Gracia's affilia�on with the Associa�on should be postponed un�l a later 
date. 

Pastor Camerino spoke about denying Sublime Gracia an opportunity to join the Associa�on because of their absence. 

Pastor Robert Rodriguez: "There is a mo�on on the floor." 

Pastor Julio Guarneri: "We have to vote on the mo�on." 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: The Associa�on will only vote to accept Rio Grande Bible Church. Vote taken and approved to 
accept Rio Grande Bible Church. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar called on Pastor Julio Guarneri and Danny Anderson. There was a clarifica�on on the proposed 
Budget on page 5. 

Pastor David Alexander asked a ques�on. "For how long will monthly payments for the sale of Cone-Oasis con�nue?" 
Answer: Seven to eight more years. 

The proposed 2023 Budget was reviewed by the Assembly; and accepted as presented. No opposi�on. Approved. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar called on Nomina�ng Commitee Chair, Pastor Hector Iracheta. Pastor Iracheta iden�fied the 
members of the commitee and thanked them for their work. The two blank spaces for the Budget and Finance 
Commitee were filled by Noelia Garcia of Emanuel, McAllen and by Jesus David Sanchez of Southmost, Brownsville. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: "This comes from a standing commitee and is not in need of a second." There were no 
ques�ons and no comments. Voted and approved. 



32 

Moderator Joe Aguilar called on the Cons�tu�on Commitee Chair, Othal Brand. Members were iden�fied (Terri Garcia, 
Pedro Pena, and Fidencio Vasquez) and thanked for their work. Men�oned that the old cons�tu�on was some sixty 
years old and that the Commitee worked in unison and with a good spirit, Several cons�tu�ons were reviewed and a 
dra� was submited to the Execu�ve Board mee�ng of September 29, 2022 and received over twenty sugges�ons. 
Some were incorporated, others were not. That this new proposed Cons�tu�on was to be transparent, allowed more 
par�cipa�on, give more control and have equal representa�on. The job of the Commitee was to make mechanics more 
clear. 

Moderator Joe Aguiiar requested ques�ons and/or comments from the Assembly. Pastor David Alexander, Senior Pastor 
at F.B.C., Edinburg men�oned "in reading the cons�tu�on it seems that you have streamlined those churches that can 
par�cipate in the Associa�on strictly to BGCT, there are some Bap�st churches that are not part of BGCT, what the 
thinking was and 

Othal Brand: "l appreciate that comment, that is part of the reason for this change that you saw on this page today. This 
document is not infallible, nor perfect, nor final.'  

David Alexander: "There is language that excludes some churches.  

Othal Brand: "We were in a quandary and we presented the rough dra� to several people at the Associa�on's office. 
The last sentence in the front page says that we will work with all and any. We know several Southern Bap�st of Texas 
Conven�on churches have supported the Associa�on and pay their memberships. We did not see that as a problem.'  

Pastor Danny Anderson: "The S.B.T.C. has been duly ins�tuted for twenty four years. In rela�ons of church members, 
Sec�on B, Subsec�on 1. Division B says "it is the duty of each church and the fellowship to contribute regularly to 
RGVBA and the BGCT. SBTC Churches donate to SBTC Conference, so that wording needs to be changed. And if you 
are going to name the BGCT, the SBTC should be named as well. If we are going to grow in the 
Associa�on, and if we are going to increase our ability to minister more intently and further, we need these churches, 
but we have excluded them by terminology within our Cons�tu�on.'  

Othal Brand: "That is terminology Danny, if that needs to be changed, we are gonna do whatever you all said. That was 
not inten�onal. They told us that we had fi�een minutes, I do not believe that this issue is one that can be setled in 
fi�een minutes. Our commitee would like to suggest that on the denomina�onal discussion, that it'll be tabled un�l 
next year's Annual Mee�ng. And would like to suggest that we look for opportuni�es to understand the BF&M 1963 and 
2000, and to understand the difference.  

Pastor Ray Zamora: "As I see things as presented, I make a mo�on not to accept this proposed Cons�tu�on 
un�l we look at it again at a tater date." Moderator Joe Aguilar: "There is a mo�on. Do have a second?" 

Osvaldo Lerma seconded the mo�on. 

Moderator Joe Aguilar: "The mo�on is to table the proposed Cons�tu�on un�l the next Annual Mee�ng.' 

The Assembly voted not to accept the proposed Cons�tu�on. The Commitee was given thanks for their work. 

S.I.D. Eder Ibarra: Requested that all new officers and commitee members come to the front to be recognized and 
prayed for. 

Adjourned. 
Notes taken by Clerk Domingo Quintanilla. 



33 

 ACTAS DE LA 111ª REUNIÓN ANUAL DE LA RGVBA 
October 29, 2022 

Calvary Bap�st Church, 1600 Harvey, McAllen, Texas 

Se ofreció el desayuno y se abrieron las Exhibiciones de Ministerios a las 9:30 am. 

10:30 am Primera Sesión 
Bienvenida y oración por el Pastor Julio Guarneri (Calvary, McAllen). Se reconoció a los representantes visitantes de la 
Convención Estatal, Colegios y Organizaciones. Woody Lewis fue presentado como intérprete; y el abogado Robert 
Galligan, fue nombrado Parlamentario. 

Toda la reunión fue bilingüe. 

El Hno. Sergio Ramos, Presidente del HBCT, saludó a la Asamblea. 

En la pantalla se presentó un vídeo sobre el trabajo de la Asociación. (El resumen escrito de la presentación se 
encuentra en las páginas 48 y 49 del Libro de Informes). 

Lectura de las Escrituras: Pastor Luis Rodríguez, Pastor del Departamento de Español de FBC, Weslaco. 

Alabanza y Adoración: Ruben Rojas y Karla Torres de Calvary, McAllen. 

Mensaje Anual traído por el Dr. Rolando Aguirre. Tema: DiscipleShi�J Reenfoque en el 

Discipulado. Texto: 2 Timoteo 2:1-10. Los cris�anos nacen de nuevo por gracia, y deben pasar información bíblica a 
otros; y esperar sufrir. Todo porque saben en quién han creído. 

11:30 Sesión de trabajo 
Asiento de los Mensajeros: El secretario Domingo Quintanilla mencionó 133 mensajeros de 45 iglesias registradas. 

Moderador Bro. Joe Aguilar dio inicio a la reunión. 

Minutas: Secretario Domingo Quintanilla: Se revisaron las actas de la Reunión Anual de 2021 y las de la Reunión de la 
Junta Ejecu�va del 29 de sep�embre de 2022. (Véanse las páginas 20 y 21 para las actas de la Reunión Anual; y las 
páginas 22 y 24 en el Libro de Informes). No hay preguntas ni comentarios. Se aceptan como están escritas y se 
aprueban por votación. 

Comité de Presupuesto y Finanzas: El Presidente Danny Anderson informó sobre el presupuesto y los gastos de la 
Asociación. Los números financieros se encuentran en las páginas 31 y 32. No hay preguntas ni comentarios. Aceptado 
como está escrito y aprobado por votación. 

Informes de los Ministerios: El Moderador Joe Aguilar mencionó que los Informes del Ministerio en las páginas 33 a 38 
en el Libro de Informes. No hay preguntas ni comentarios. Se aceptan como están escritos y se aprueban por votación. 

Informe del Equipo de Liderazgo Interino (E.L.I.): Presidente Julio Guarneri informó la breve historia de la I L. T. Se inició 
en junio de 2017. Pastor Julio fue seleccionado como Presidente y los del Equipo fueron: Vidal Muñiz, Wade Hood, 
Steven Parker, Ray Zamora, Eloy Mendiola, Marty Watson, Adån Rodríguez, Armando López, Daniel DeLeón, y Domingo 
Quintanilla que sirvió como Administrador Interino. 

El Equipo cambió a lo largo de los años. 

Inicialmente, la Asociación se encontraba en apuros financieros, había adquirido ciertas deudas y obligaciones fiscales y 
no disponía en ese momento de los fondos necesarios para llevar a cabo la tarea que tenía ante sí. El EIT estudió la 
situación y la historia de la Asociación. El Equipo se puso en contacto con los líderes de la Convención y con otras 
personas para que le ayudaran en su desarrollo futuro, 



34 

El Equipo elaboró un informe para el Consejo Ejecu�vo de enero de 2019. Este informe presentaba una nueva 
estructura basada en redes: Edificar, Mul�plicar y Dignificar como círculos concéntricos y que se tocaban entre sí. Habría 
una red de iglesias trabajando juntas; así como la creación de un perfil para el Director de Implementación de la 
Estrategia (S.I.D.). 

El Equipo se centró en reconstruir la confianza con nuestros socios y en inver�r en las relaciones. Más iglesias 
empezaron a apoyar el trabajo de la Asociación. 

Como la Asociación había sido bendecida financieramente y tenía cierta estabilidad, el Equipo llamó a Eder Ibarra como 
S.I.D. 

Más tarde, el pastor Raúl Morales se incorporó al personal de la RGVBA y trabaja a �empo parcial como Church 
Dona�ons Advancement. El promueve y desarrolla planes estratégicos para que las iglesias sigan sobre contribuciones 
financieras comunicando las ac�vidades de RGVBA, programas y su misión. Las iglesias han aumentado sus donaciones. 

El ILT ha concluido su tarea y el Equipo anuncia que hoy, 29 de octubre de 2022 se disuelve. La transición se desarrolla 
sin contra�empos. Y la Asociación está preparada para el éxito. 

El Equipo ha atravesado el Valle de las Sombras de la Muerte. Hay una mesa puesta ante la Asociación. Lo mejor está 
por llegar. El Equipo anuncia que la I.L.T. ha terminado. El trabajo recae sobre los hombros de los líderes que ahora 
ocupan sus puestos. 

El equipo afirma la llamamiento de Eder Ibarra. 

El próximo año votaremos por un Director de Misiones permanente. Es una decisión muy importante. Y debemos 
prepararnos para el Encuentro Familiar de 2023 aquí mismo en el Valle del Río Grande. 

Hoy se presentarán los Estatutos y Reglamentos revisados. Debemos ser inclusivos y trabajar con las iglesias que están 
relacionadas con la Asociación. Tenemos una puerta abierta. Tenemos que trabajar juntos y estar mo�vados para 
mantener su relación. 

El Equipo agradece a" las iglesias por permi�r al Pastor Julio Guarneri servir como Presidente. 

No hubo preguntas ni comentarios. El informe del (L. T. fue aceptado tal como fue presentado y aprobado por votación. 

El Moderador Joe Aguilar dio la palabra a Eder Ibarra. 

Informe del Director de Implementación de Estrategias: El Hno. Ibarra mencionó que su informe en inglés estaba en las 
páginas 42 a 45 del Libro de Informes. Mencionó el progreso y los pasos posi�vos dados con respecto a la nueva visión 
de la Asociación. 

Se compar�eron los logros. Y el cargo de S.I.D. con�nuará hasta julio de 2023. Hno. Ibarra agradeció el mentor o 
mentores que ha tenido en los úl�mos meses. 

El Consejo de la Asociación ha comenzado a celebrar reuniones. Y el Consejo (Presidente de cada comité) juega un papel 
importante. 

Iglesia Bau�sta Southmost, Brownsville ha sido instrumental en permi�r que el S.I.D trabaje en una oficina para poder 
reunirse con los pastores locales del Condado de Cameron. 

La Asociación está avanzando con la visión de red, incluyendo el trabajo con Wayland U., Criswell College, Dallas Bap�st 
I.J., y otros seminarios. 

La Asociación también está asociada con B.G.C.T, para traer entrenamiento para pastores y becas para estudiantes 
misioneros de verano. 



35 

El Hno. Ibarra habló sobre "Mul�plicación"... trabajando con iglesias sin pastor. Debido al trabajo de la Asociación siete 
iglesias han llamado pastores. Por favor oren por estas iglesias. Todavía hay cuatro iglesias sin pastor. Agradecemos a 
Primera de McAllen por su trabajo en Escobares. La Asociación también proveyó una beca de doscientos dólares 
($200.00) para la Escuela Bíblica de Vacaciones a varias iglesias. 

A través de la Convención Bau�sta Hispana la Asociación ha hecho una "conexión-red para ayudar a los pastores 
hispanos. Hay una beca de mil dólares ($1 ,000.00). 

El Hno. Ibarra también habló sobre "Dignify"...trabajando con South Texas Children's Home (STCH) y ellos trabajan con la 
comunidad pero también ayudan a los pastores. Buckner ha proporcionado mochilas y tratados del Evangelio. Valley 
Bap�st-Mission Educa�on Center (VB-MEC) ha asis�do en la reparación de edificios y en par�cular la casa móvil de un 
pastor. 

El Hno. Ibarra mencionó que todavía hay mucho por hacer. La Asociación está aquí para promover la unidad y fomentar 
la educación sobre las creencias bau�stas y la herencia bau�sta. La Asociación necesita promover las misiones y la 
plantación de iglesias. 

La población hispana en Texas supera ya el cincuenta por ciento (50%). Nuestra Asociación está preparada para el reto. 
Estamos aquí para equipar y empoderar a los líderes. Tenemos muchos Millennials, y también muchos llamados 
"Generación Z". La edad media de los tejanos es de 34 años. 

En 2017, la edad media de los pastores protestantes era de 54 años, en comparación con los 44 años de 1992. Hoy en 
día, solo el 14% de los pastores principales son menores de 40 años. La Asociación se está preparando para trabajar con 
la próxima generación. 

Moderadora Joe Aguilar: Este es el informe del Director de Implementación de la Estrategia. ¿Hay preguntas o 
comentarios? No hay preguntas ni comentarios, se vota y se aprueba. 

Moderador Joe Aguilar: Después del siguiente presentador, las preguntas y comentarios se limitarán a quince (15) 
minutos. 

Comité de Credenciales: El Presidente Ray Zamora mencionó que dos iglesias habían solicitado afiliarse a la Asociación. 
Se trata de Rio Grande Bible Church, 2109 W. Nolana Ave., McAllen; y Sublime Gracia, 1401 S. 6th Street, McAllen. 

Comentario: Alguien del público preguntó si estas iglesias se apegaban a la Fe y Mensaje Bau�stas de 1963. 

El presidente Zamora respondió que los pastores de ambas iglesias habían respondido "sí" a esa pregunta durante su 
solicitud ante el Comité. 

Moderador Joe Aguilar: ¿Están presentes los miembros de estas iglesias? 

(Miembros de la Iglesia Bíblica Río Grande estuvieron presentes. Sublime Gracia no tuvo representación. ) 

Comentario: El Pastor Kevin Harris menciono que el voto para aceptar a estas iglesias deberia excluir a Sublime Gracia, Y 
que la consideracion para la afiliacion de Sublime Gracia a la Asociacion deberia ser pospuesta hasta una fecha 
posterior. 

El Pastor Camerino hablo acerca de negarle a Sublime Gracia la oportunidad de unirse a la Asociacion debido a su 
ausencia. 

Pastor Robert Rodriguez: "Hay una mocion en el piso". 

Pastor Julio Guarneri: "Tenemos que votar la moción". 

Moderador Joe Aguilar: La Asociación solo votara para aceptar a la Iglesia Bíblica Rio Grande. Se vota y se aprueba 
aceptar a la Iglesia Bíblica Rio Grande. 



36 

Moderador Joe Aguilar llamo al Pastor Julio Guarneri y Danny Anderson. Hubo una aclaración sobre el Presupuesto 
propuesto en la página 5. 

El Pastor David Alexander hizo una pregunta. "¿Por cuanto �empo con�nuaran los pagos mensuales por la venta de 
Cone-Oasis?". Respuesta: De siete a ocho años mas. 

La Asamblea examina el proyecto de presupuesto para 2023 y lo acepta tal como se presenta. No hubo oposición. 
Aprobado. 

El Moderador Joe Aguilar dio la palabra al Presidente del Comité de Nominaciones, Pastor Héctor Iracheta. El Pastor 
Iracheta iden�ficó a los miembros del comité y les agradeció por su trabajo. Los dos espacios en blanco para el Comité 
de Presupuesto y Finanzas fueron llenados por Noelia García de Emanuel, McAllen y por Jesús David Sánchez de 
Southmost, Brownsville. 

Moderador Joe Aguilar: "Esto viene de un comité permanente y no necesita un segundo". No hubo preguntas ni 
comentarios. Votado y aprobado. 

El Moderador Joe Aguilar dio la palabra al Presidente del Comité de Cons�tución, Othal Brand. Se iden�ficó a los 
miembros (Terri García, Pedro Peña y Fidencio Vásquez) y se les agradeció su trabajo. Mencionó que la an�gua 
cons�tución tenía unos sesenta años y que el Comité trabajó al unísono y con buen espíritu, Se revisaron varias 
cons�tuciones y se presentó un borrador en la reunión de la Junta Ejecu�va del 29 de sep�embre de 2022 y se 
recibieron más de veinte sugerencias. Algunas fueron incorporadas, otras no. Esta nueva propuesta de Cons�tución 
debía ser transparente, permi�r más par�cipación, dar más control y tener una representación igualitaria. El trabajo del 
Comité fue hacer más clara la mecánica. 

El Moderador Joe Aguiiar solicitó preguntas y/o comentarios de la Asamblea. Pastor David Alexander, Pastor Principal de 
F.B.C., Edinburg menciono "al leer la cons�tución parece que ustedes han racionalizado aquellas iglesias que pueden 
par�cipar en la Asociación estrictamente a la BGCT, hay algunas iglesias Bau�stas que no son parte de la BGCT, cual fue 
el pensamiento y 

Othal Brand: "Aprecio ese comentario, esa es parte de la razón de este cambio que han visto hoy en esta página. Este 
documento no es infalible, ni perfecto, ni defini�vo".  

David Alexander: "Hay un lenguaje que excluye a algunas iglesias.  

Othal Brand: "Estábamos en un dilema y presentamos el borrador a varias personas en la oficina de la Asociación. La 
úl�ma frase de la portada dice que trabajaremos con todos y con cualquiera. Sabemos que varias iglesias de la 
Convención Bau�sta del Sur de Texas han apoyado a la Asociación y pagan sus membresías. No lo consideramos un 
problema".  

Pastor Danny Anderson: "La S.B.T.C. ha sido debidamente ins�tuida por vein�cuatro años. En las relaciones de los 
miembros de la iglesia, la Sección B, Subsección 1. División B dice "es deber de cada iglesia y de la hermandad contribuir 
regularmente a la RGVBA y a la BGCT. Las Iglesias de la SBTC donan a la Conferencia SBTC, por lo que esa redacción debe 
ser cambiada. Y si se va a nombrar a la BGCT, la SBTC debe ser nombrada también. Si vamos a crecer en la 

Si vamos a crecer en la Asociación, y si vamos a aumentar nuestra capacidad de ministrar más intensamente y más lejos, 
necesitamos estas iglesias, pero las hemos excluido por la terminología dentro de nuestra Cons�tución ". 

Othal Brand: "Eso es terminología Danny, si eso necesita ser cambiado, vamos a hacer lo que todos ustedes dijeron. No 
ha sido intencionado. Nos dijeron que teníamos quince minutos, no creo que este tema se pueda resolver en quince 
minutos. Nuestro comité quisiera sugerir que en la discusión denominacional, que se posponga hasta la Reunión Anual 
del próximo año. Y nos gustaría sugerir que busquemos oportunidades para entender el BF&M 1963 y 2000, y entender 
la diferencia.  



37 

Pastor Ray Zamora: "Como veo las cosas tal como se presentan, hago una moción para no aceptar esta propuesta de 
Cons�tución hasta que la volvamos a examinar en una fecha posterior". Moderador Joe Aguilar: "Hay una moción. ¿La 
secundo?" 

Osvaldo Lerma apoya la moción. 

Moderador Joe Aguilar: "La moción es presentar la Cons�tución propuesta hasta la próxima Reunión Anual".  

La Asamblea votó no aceptar la Cons�tución propuesta. Se dio las gracias al Comité por su trabajo. 

S.I.D. Eder Ibarra: Solicita que todos los nuevos oficiales y miembros del comité pasen al frente para ser reconocidos y 
orar por ellos. 

Se levanta la sesión. 

Notas tomadas por el Secretario Domingo Quintanilla. 

 

 

 
 
 



38 



39 

Execu�ve Board Minutes - September 28, 2023 

 

Location: First Baptist Church 
     305 N 5th Street  
     Raymondville, Texas      Luncheon and Fellowship: 11:00 – 11:30 a.m. 
 
Meeting Convene: 11:35 a.m. 
 
Welcome and Prayer: Brother Zeke Padilla   Moderator: Pastor Kevin Harris   
  
Devotional: Brother Don Rypstra    Bible Verse: Deuteronomy 5, 7, and 8:1-3  
                     Ministry Contractor    Prayer: Prayed for pastors, the meeting, and meal 
                     Billy Graham Evangelistic Association     
Devotional Focus:   
 We find the children of Israel wondering in the desserts (5). Moses is about to leave and Joshua would be taking over 
guiding the people of Israel. We find that Moses had the heart of a pastor with the people of Israel. He wants the children 
of Israel to remember when they were slaves in Egypt (5). This is the first generation of Israel. Just like God delivered 
Israel from slavery (7), God has delivered us from slavery from sin. Abraham reminds Israel to remember how God wants 
us to be complete dependence on Him. God showed them humbleness through the experience in the wilderness. God also 
wants to know what was in the peoples’ heart. God knows our heart (Psalm 139:1-3). Wilderness experiences keep us 
humble. God also allowed them to be hungry so that they can be hunger for His food; His Word. God also provided heat 
from the cloud, and fire at night for illumination. He encouraged not forgetting the difficult times and staying under the 
cloud of God.        
Biography: Brother Don Rypstra lives in Minnesota and travel around the country with the organization of Billy Graham 
Association.  
He stated the reason to be with us on this date was to inform that the Billy Graham Association is planning a tour in 
medium and small cities along the border, and its call the Frontera Tour. It’ll start in the Rio Grande Valley towns with 
Brownsville on 2/24 and in McAllen on 2/25. He stated that Franklin Graham has the heart to reach medium and small 
cities. The tour will continue to Laredo, Eaglepass, Del Rio, Presidio, El Paso, Tucson, Shuma, and Hima. There will be 
prayer and breakfast for pastors and their wives every second Tuesday at Rudy’s BBQ in Brownsville on 10/12/23, and an 
evening supper in McAllen on the same date. The restaurant name was not available. There will be a Christians Life and 
Witness Classes and Summit with a luncheon for pastors and church leaders on 9/23/23 in McAllen. All events will be 
bilingual. There will also be opportunities for those who would like to be volunteers to be prayer counselors and help with 
the decision cards. The cards will be review by the association, but will be return to the local churches for follow-ups. He 
said that their association wants the lost to come to the local churches and to Christ.    
 Order of Business: 

Meeting was call to order: 12:06 p.m.    Moderator: Pastor Kevin Harris 
Motion: none; Brother Kevin Harris called the Executive Meeting to order. 
 Financial Report  

Sister Carmen Gaytan presented the report to the assembly for August 2023. A written copy of the report was provided 
to everyone in attendance. Sister Carmen Gaytan reviewed the report from beginning to the end figures. 
Discussion: 
There were no questions, corrections, and no discussion made 
Motion: Brother Kevin Harris entertained a motion to accept the financial report as presented 
Action: report was put to vote. Vote resulted on approval of report as presented. 

1) Sister Carmen Gaytan continued with presenting the proposed budget for the year 2024. She explained the 
report in more details. A copy of the report was provided to the assembly. She informed the churches 
donations went down. She also explained the sale of the VBR and how the revenues will be provided to the 
association. 

Discussion: 
Sister Juanita Morales stated that the Finance Committee had not met to review the proposed budget as presented and 
there were some changes in it. 
Sister Carmen Gaytan responded by saying that the Financial Committee had met to review the budget as presented and 
the members had seen the numbers listed on the report. The only change that is in the report was $2000 increase for the 
building, utilities, and maintenance.  



40 

Sister from Guest Church First Baptist Raymondville asked to be explained the figures under the Medicare and Social 
Security Supplement amounts, if the amounts have been adjusted to changes. 
Sister Carmen Gaytan responded by saying that the amount in the report is the amount the employer submits based on 
the 0.0765 rate with the IRS. 
Brother Raul Morales stated that the question asked by the sister from First Baptist Raymondville was in reference to the 
Medicare and Social Security supplements when a person has retired already, not an employee. 
Sister Carmen Gaytan responded saying that the figures written on the report is the contribution the employers do to an 
employee when working for the company.  If the employee is 65 years old, and retired, the amount will have to be 
adjusted. 
Brother Kevin Harris entertained the motion to accept the 2024 Budget as presented. He stated there was no need for a 
vote because the Budget will have to be presented for approval at the Annual Meeting. He also stated that this report is for 
information purpose; therefore, no vote was necessary.  

2) Sister Carmen Gaytan continued by presenting the DOM packet for review. She read the entire report and 
explained the information. A copy of written report was given to attendees.  

Discussion: 
There were neither questions nor comments made. 
Motion: Brother Kevin Harris this was a proposal presented coming from a committee; therefore, there was no need for a 
motion or a second.  
Action: the assembly voted on the proposed DOM packet. The vote passed. 
 Personnel Committee 

Brother Tommy Dillards presented the report in absence of the president of the committee; Brother Robert Rodriguez. 
He read the report Brother Robert Rodriguez presented previously at the Council meeting. Copies were distributed to the 
attendees.  
Discussion: 
Brother Danny Anderson stated he didn’t understand why Brother Raul Morales was cut his working hours and another 
person was added to the staff in the association. Is he not capable? He said it didn’t make sense to him. 
Brother Raul Morales stated that though the discussion was about him, but he read the proposal and if presented to the 
Executive Board the way it is right now, he asked who will be in the office because his hours have been cut and Aracely’s 
hours have been cut, too, and there’s nobody else. 
Brother Kevin Harris took over to present the proposed position by reading the report as presented at the council 
meeting by Brother Robert Rodriguez. He stated the recommendations were not provided well and he recommended 
returning the proposal to the committees of personnel and financing for further review.  
Sister Carmen Gaytan responded and said the proposed budget is up to date right now, and these positions had not been 
included in the budget as presented earlier.  
Sister Juanita Morales stated that was the reason she had previously stated the budget proposal was not ready to be 
presented at Executive Boar yet. 
Brother Raul Morales clarified the status of the proposed budget to Sister Juanita Morales by stating that the budget is 
up to date because it doesn’t include the proposed positions. 
Brother Ray Zamora stated Brother Kevin Harris could not propose due to him being the moderator, but agreed with him 
to return the proposal to the committees of personnel and financing for further review. He further stated that once the 
committees review the proposal and finalize, then the proposal will be voted on at council and executive board. 
Motion: Brother Ray Zamora supported to return the proposed positions back to the Financial Committee and the 
Personnel Committees for further review and to follow the process in order.  
Action: Brother Ray Zamora proposed and Brother Joe Aguilar seconds it. Vote passed.  
 Nominating Committee 

Brother Hector Iracheta presented the informational report. Copies of the report presented in the Council meeting were 
made and passed to all assembly. He read and explained the report by providing the names of nominees for all the current 
opened position in the Associational Council. He informed of the open positions in the council included trustees, vice 
moderator, constitution & bi-laws presented an extension for one more year of service for two of its member, the 
credential and petitioning committee, evangelism committee, and personal committee. He gave the names of all 
candidates for each opening and the list will be presented on the annual meeting.  
Brother Kevin Harris stated the report was an informational report; therefore, there was no need for motion because it’ll 
be voted at the Annual meeting.  
Action: None 
 Constitutional Committee 



41 

Brother Pedro Peña presented the report for the Constitutional Committee in the absence of Brother Othal Brand. Copies 
of the most recent updates were distributed to the assembly. He informed that there will not be a vote on the report 
because it’ll be presented at the Annual meeting for a vote. He further informed that one change not included in the copy 
of the report is the request of including information about nepotism. A statement will be written and added to it. Also, the 
committee will look into how the networks of the association will be removing it.  The committee will meet and agree on 
how it’ll be written prior to presenting it for vote at the annual meeting.  
Discussion: 
Brother Danny Anderson stated not to be in agreement with the terminology used on the first statement written. He 
further stated the statement needs to be clear cut with one or more affiliation to include everyone. He suggested changing 
the terminology to “be in cooperation with anyone organizations” to include everyone. Then he said that the written 
statement is not what he suggested to Brother Othal Brand. 
Brother Pedro Peña responded by saying that the committee has to listen to everyone and come to consensus on what to 
write. Furthermore, he asked if the association receives funds from the SBCT. The committee research into the SBCT on 
how they accepted the membership to the SBCT and voted on using the Constitution of 1963. It was found that the SBCT 
accepts both the Constitution of 1963 and the document of 2000. We used the results as point of start. Keep in mind that 
our association has been in existence for over 100 years. He further stated that the times have changed and the 
Constitution of 1963 has not changed. The results of our research showed that the Document of 2000 has replaced the 
Constitution of 1963. The concern is that other associations have adopted the Document of 2000 only and pushed out the 
Constitution of 1963. We also found out that we think very similar and that the reason it was written the way you see it 
written.  
Brother Joe Aguilar requested to state that every association he works with the South Texas associations and they affirm 
both the Constitution of 1963 and the Document of 2000.  
Sister Juanita Morales stated that she has suggested including the “and/or” to cover both documents.   
Brother Pedro Peña responded to the previous comments by saying that it has been discussed and it’s been found that 
both documents are similar but not the same. 
Brother Ray Zamora stated that the church has to remain autonomous, and it’s not being suggested that churches cannot 
be members of the association if they don’t affirm the Constitution of 1963. He further stated he wanted to make sure that 
is clear to everyone that the churches maintain their autonomy. 
Brother Pedro Peña responded by saying that we must be careful on what the association accepts. We need to think of 
this looking at it in the national level. We need to look after the interests of the association.  
Brother Ray Zamora stated that both documents emerged from us and we need to make sure that the church keeps its 
autonomy and that both documents emerged from the churches at the time they were created. Both are similar, and have 
good things on both. Therefore, he suggests allowing churches to affirm both and still be members of the association. 
Brother Pedro Peña responded that we need to be cautious in keeping the church autonomy and to what the Bible says 
tells us about the person of Christ or the absolute truth.  
Brother Raul Morales asked to be explained section 3 E Receptions into the Fellowship, Sub sec 1 article 2. Its telling 
me that the church must accept the 1963. He asked if the section will be removed or leave it.  
Brother Pedro Peña responded by saying that what he read it’s the way the original constitution is written. He further 
stated that original sections won’t be changed and further explained that the constitution has gone through several changes 
since 1925, 1963, 2000, and now 2023 and he suspects there will be more in the future.  
Brother Kevin Harris announce there will be one more question 
Brother Joe Aguilar suggested to remove words on the opening paragraph because the statement sounds redundant, and 
suggested how to correct to read “with all entities”. 
Brother Pedro Peña responded that the reason it was written the way is because we’re trying to include everyone. 
Brother Kevin Harris stated this was an informational report and it’ll be presented at the annual meeting for vote. 
Further Discussion: 
Sister Juanita Morales stated that it seems to her that the updates to the constitution are one sided and now the 
committee is requesting for members of the committee to be approved for an extra year of service. She further stated that 
we need to have new members. 
Brother Kevin Harris responded by referring Sister Juanita Morales suggestion to the nominating committee. 
Motion: None Action: No action taken 
 Approval of Executive Board Minutes:  

Sister Blanca Marinero presented report to the assembly. A copy of the minutes was provided to each in attendance. 
Discussion: 
There were no questions and no corrections made.     
Motion: Brother Kevin Harris contemplated the motion to accept the minutes as provided. 



42 

Action: the members voted and approved the minutes as presented 
Brother Zeke Diaz approved the motion to accept the minutes as provided to them, and Brother Eli Lara seconds it.  
 Informational Reports 
• Union Femenil  

Sister Maritza Bautista presented the report by announcing two activities for the Union Femenil Misionera (UFM). 
Copies were given to everyone. She announced there will be a Prayer Day on 11/06/23 different churches throughout the 
Valley, and a Retiro de Oracion on 02/02-03/2024 and it’ll have a cost of $120 per person at South Padre Island. 

• Union Varonil 
Brother Kevin Harris announced there will be a meeting at Iglesia Bautista Belen in Weslaco.  

• Brother Eder Ibarra Recognition  
Brother Kevin Harris asked Brother Eder Ibarra to stand and recognized him for all the years of service to the 
association and thanked him for all of the work he did. He asked everyone to join him on a prayer for Brother Eder Ibarra 
now that he will continue his service with STICH. Everyone applauded. 

• Brother Tommy Dillards Information 
Brother Tommy Dillards informed that the University Of Texas A&M in Corpus Christi has experienced two revivals 
with its students. The first one brought eighty students to Christ and the second revival brought one hundred students to 
Christ.  
 Meeting Adjourn 

Motion: to adjourn the meeting and prayed the closing prayer and Brother Eder Ibarra prayer. 
Action: Brother Daniel Caballero approved motion and Brother Ray Zamora seconds it.  
Meeting Adjourned: at 1:17 pm. 

• Extra Announcement 
Brother Joe Aguilar announced that the grants for Inflation and Sabbatical are about to expired by the end of the year. He 
encouraged all pastors to submit their applications at texasbaptists.org  
 
 
 
 
Executive Meeting report presented to RGVBA Council for review on 10/17/2023; to Annual Meeting on _10/28/23. 
                               (Date)         (Date) 
 
 
  



43 

Actas de la Junta Ejecutivo - 28 de septiembre de 2023 

Ubicación: Primera Iglesia Bautista 
       305 N 5ta calle 
      Raymondville, Texas     Almuerzo y compañerismo: 11:00 – 11:30 am 
 
Convocatoria de la reunión: 11:35 am 
 
Bienvenida y Oración: Hermano Zeke Padilla    Moderador: Pastor Kevin Harris   
  
Devocional: Hermano Don Rypstra     Versículo Bíblico: Deuteronomio 5, 7 y 8:1-3 

        Contratista Ministerial     Oración: por los pastores, la reunión y la comida. 
        Asociación Evangelística Billy Graham     

Enfoque devocional: Encontramos a los hijos de Israel viajando por el desierto (5). Moisés está por partir y Josué estaría 
asumiendo el relevo de guiar al pueblo de Israel. Encontramos que Moisés tenía el corazón de un pastor con el pueblo de 
Israel. Quiere que los hijos de Israel recuerden cuando fueron esclavos en Egipto (5). Esta es la primera generación de 
Israel. Así como Dios liberó a Israel de la esclavitud (7), Dios nos ha librado de la esclavitud del pecado. Moisés recuerda 
al pueblo de Israel que recuerde cómo Dios quiere que dependamos completamente de Él. Dios les mostró humildad a 
través de la experiencia en el desierto. Dios también quiere saber qué había en el corazón del pueblo. Dios conoce nuestro 
corazón (Salmo 139:1-3). Las experiencias en el desierto nos mantienen humildes. Dios también les permitió tener 
hambre para que pudieran tener hambre de Su alimento; Su palabra. Dios también proporcionó calor de la nube durante el 
día, y fuego por la noche para iluminación. Animó a no olvidar los momentos difíciles y permanecer bajo la nube de Dios. 
  
Biografía: El hermano Don Rypstra vive en Minnesota y viaja por todo el país con la organización de la Asociación Billy 
Graham. 
Dijo que el motivo de estar con nosotros en esta fecha es para informar que la Asociación Billy Graham está planeando 
una gira por ciudades medianas y pequeñas a lo largo de la frontera, y se llama Frontera Tour . Comenzará en las ciudades 
del Valle del Río Grande con Brownsville el 24 de febrero y en McAllen el 25 de febrero. Afirmó que Franklin Graham 
tiene el corazón para llegar a ciudades medianas y pequeñas. La gira continuará hacia Laredo, Eaglepass , Del Rio, 
Presidio, El Paso, Tucson, Shuma y Hima . Habrá oración y desayuno para los pastores y sus esposas cada segundo martes 
en Rudy's BBQ en Brownsville el 12/10/23, y una cena en McAllen en la misma fecha. El nombre del restaurante no 
estaba disponible. Habrá una cumbre y clases de vida y testimonio de cristianos con un almuerzo para pastores y líderes 
de la iglesia el 23/09/23 en McAllen. Todos los eventos serán bilingües. También habrá oportunidades para aquellos que 
deseen ser voluntarios para ser consejeros de oración y ayudar con las tarjetas de decisión. Las tarjetas serán revisadas por 
la asociación, pero se devolverán a las iglesias locales para su seguimiento. Dijo que su asociación quiere que los perdidos 
vengan a las iglesias locales y a Cristo. 
 Orden del día: 

La reunión fue llamada al orden: 12:06 pm     Moderador: Pastor Kevin Harris 
Moción: ninguna; El hermano Kevin Harris convocó al orden la reunión ejecutiva. 
 Informe financiero 

La Hermana Carmen Gaytán presentó el informe a la asamblea de agosto de 2023. Se entregó una copia escrita del 
informe a todos los asistentes. Hermana Carmen Gaytán repasó el informe de principio a fin con las cifras. 
Discusión: 
No hubo preguntas, correcciones ni discusiones. 
Moción: El hermano Kevin Harris consideró una moción para aceptar el informe financiero tal como se presentó. 
Acción: el informe se sometió a votación. La votación resultó en la aprobación del informe tal como se presentó. 

3) Hermana Carmen Gaytán Continuó con la presentación del proyecto de presupuesto para el año 2024 . 
Explicó el informe con más detalles. Se entregó una copia del informe a la asamblea. Ella informó a las 
iglesias que las donaciones disminuyeron. También explicó la venta de la VBR y cómo se proporcionarán los 
ingresos a la asociación. 

Discusión: 
La hermana Juanita Morales afirmó que el Comité de Finanzas no se había reunido para revisar el proyecto de 
presupuesto tal como se presentó y había algunos cambios en el mismo. 
La Hermana Carmen Gaytán respondió diciendo que el Comité Financiero se había reunido para revisar el presupuesto 
tal como se presentó y los miembros habían visto los números enumerados en el informe. El único cambio que figura en el 
informe fue un aumento de $2000 para el edificio, los servicios públicos y el mantenimiento. 



44 

La hermana de la Iglesia Invitada First Baptist Raymondville pidió que se le explicaran las cifras de los montos del 
Suplemento de Seguro Social y Medicare, y pregunto si los montos se han ajustado a los cambios. 
La Hermana Carmen Gaytán respondió diciendo que la cantidad en el informe es la cantidad que el empleador presenta 
basándose en la tasa de 0.0765 ante el IRS. 
El hermano Raúl Morales explico que la pregunta que hizo la hermana de First Baptist Raymondville fue en referencia a 
los complementos de Medicare y Seguro Social cuando una persona ya se ha jubilado, no un empleado. 
La Hermana Carmen Gaytán respondió diciendo que las cifras escritas en el informe es el aporte que los empleadores 
hacen a un empleado cuando trabaja para la empresa. Si el empleado tiene 65 años y está jubilado, habrá que ajustar el 
importe. 
El hermano Kevin Harris consideró la moción para aceptar el presupuesto de 2024 tal como se presentó. Manifestó que 
no es necesaria una votación porque el Presupuesto deberá presentarse para su aprobación en la Asamblea Anual. 
Asimismo, manifestó que este informe tiene carácter informativo; por lo tanto, no fue necesaria ninguna votación. 

4) Hermana Carmen Gaytán Continuó presentando el paquete DOM para su revisión. Leyó el informe 
completo y explicó la información. Se entregó copia del informe escrito a los asistentes. 

Discusión: 
No hubo preguntas ni comentarios. 
Moción: Hermano Kevin Harris, esta fue una propuesta presentada proveniente de un comité; por lo tanto, no había 
necesidad de una moción o un segundo. 
Acción: la asamblea votó sobre el paquete DOM propuesto. La votación fue aprobada. 
 Comité de Personal 

El Hermano Tommy Dillards presentó el informe en ausencia del presidente del comité; Hermano Roberto Rodríguez. 
Leyó el informe que el hermano Robert Rodríguez presentó anteriormente en la reunión del Consejo. Se distribuyeron 
copias a los asistentes. 
Discusión: 
El hermano Danny Anderson declaró que no entendía por qué al hermano Raúl Morales se le redujeron sus horas de 
trabajo y se agregó otra persona al personal de la asociación. Pregunto ¿No es capaz? Dijo que no tenía sentido para él. 
El hermano Raúl Morales declaro que aunque la discusión fue sobre él, pero leyó la propuesta y si se presenta a la Junta 
Ejecutiva como está ahora, preguntó quiénes estarán en la oficina porque sus horas han sido reducidas y las horas de 
Aracely han sido reducidas también y no hay nadie más que este en la oficina todo el tiempo. 
El hermano Kevin Harris tomó el relevo para presentar la posición propuesta leyendo el informe presentado en la 
reunión del consejo por el hermano Robert Rodríguez. Dijo que las recomendaciones no fueron bien proporcionadas y 
recomendó devolver la propuesta a los comités de personal y financiamiento para su posterior revisión. 
La Hermana Carmen Gaytán respondió y dijo que el presupuesto propuesto está actualizado en este momento y que 
estos puestos no se habían incluido en el presupuesto como se presentó anteriormente. 
La hermana Juanita Morales declaro que esa era la razón por la que anteriormente había dicho que la propuesta de 
presupuesto aún no estaba lista para ser presentada a la Junta Ejecutiva. 
El hermano Raúl Morales aclaró el estado del proyecto de presupuesto a la hermana Juanita Morales al indicar que el 
presupuesto está actualizado porque no incluye los cargos propuestos. 
El hermano Ray Zamora dijo que el hermano Kevin Harris no podía proponer debido a que él era el moderador, pero 
acordó con él devolver la propuesta a los comités de personal y financiamiento para una revisión adicional. Dijo además 
que una vez que los comités revisen la propuesta y la finalicen, la propuesta se votará en el consejo y la junta ejecutiva. 
Moción: El hermano Ray Zamora apoyó devolver los puestos propuestos al Comité Financiero y a los Comités de 
Personal para una revisión adicional y seguir el proceso en orden. 
Acción: El hermano Ray Zamora propuso y el hermano Joe Aguilar la apoya. Votación aprobada. 
 Comité de Nominaciones 

Hermano Héctor Iracheta presentó el informe informativo. Se hicieron copias del informe presentado en la reunión del 
Consejo y se transmitieron a toda la asamblea. Leyó y explicó el informe proporcionando los nombres de los nominados 
para todos los puestos abiertos actualmente en el Consejo Asociacional. Informó sobre los puestos vacantes en el consejo 
incluidos fideicomisarios, vicemoderador, constitución y reglamentos presentó una extensión por un año más de servicio 
para dos de sus miembros, el comité de credenciales y peticiones, el comité de evangelización y el comité personal. Dio 
los nombres de todos los candidatos para cada vacante y la lista será presentada en la reunión anual. 
El hermano Kevin Harris dijo que el informe era informativo; por lo tanto, no hubo necesidad de moción porque se 
votará en la reunión anual. 
Acción: Ninguna 
 Comité Constitucional 



45 

El hermano Pedro peña presentó el informe del Comité Constitucional en ausencia del hermano Othal Brand. Se 
distribuyeron a la asamblea copias de las actualizaciones más recientes. Informó que no habrá votación sobre el informe 
porque será presentado en la Asamblea Anual para votación. Informó además que un cambio no incluido en la copia del 
informe es la solicitud de incluir información sobre nepotismo. Se escribirá una declaración y se le agregará. Además, el 
comité estudiará cómo los pilares que rigen la asociación se eliminarán. El comité se reunirá y acordará cómo se redactará 
antes de presentarlo para votación en la reunión anual. 
Discusión: 
El hermano Danny Anderson declaró no estar de acuerdo con la terminología utilizada en la primera declaración escrita. 
Dijo además que la declaración debe ser clara con una o más afiliaciones para incluir a todos. Sugirió cambiar la 
terminología para "estar en cooperación con cualquier organización" para incluir a todos. Ademas dijo que la declaración 
escrita no es lo que el sugirió al hermano Othal Brand. 
El hermano Pedro peña respondió diciendo que el comité tiene que escuchar a todos y llegar a un consenso sobre qué 
escribir. Además, preguntó si la asociación recibe fondos de la SBCT. El comité investiga en la SBCT cómo aceptaron la 
membresía de la SBCT y votaron sobre el uso de la Constitución de 1963. Se encontró que la SBCT acepta tanto la 
Constitución de 1963 como el documento de 2000. Usamos los resultados como punto de partida. Tengan en cuenta que 
nuestra asociación existe desde hace más de 100 años. Manifestó además que los tiempos han cambiado y la Constitución 
de 1963 no ha cambiado. Los resultados de nuestra investigación mostraron que el Documento de 2000 reemplazó a la 
Constitución de 1963. La preocupación es que otras asociaciones solo adoptaron el Documento de 2000 y rechazaron la 
Constitución de 1963. También descubrimos que pensamos de manera muy similar y es la razón por la que fue escrito de 
la forma en que lo ven escrito. 
El hermano Joe Aguilar dijo que todas las asociaciones con las que el trabaja son las asociaciones del sur de Texas y 
afirman tanto la Constitución de 1963 como el Documento de 2000. 
La hermana Juanita Morales dijo que ella sugirió incluir el “y/o” para cubrir ambos documentos y no se hizo. 
El hermano Pedro peña respondió a los comentarios anteriores diciendo que se ha discutido y se ha encontrado que 
ambos documentos son similares pero no iguales. 
El hermano Ray Zamora dijo que la iglesia tiene que permanecer autónoma y no se sugiere que las iglesias no puedan 
ser miembros de la asociación si no afirman la Constitución de 1963. Dijo además que quería asegurarse de que quede 
claro para todos que las iglesias mantienen su autonomía. 
El hermano Pedro peña respondió diciendo que hay que tener cuidado con lo que se acepta en la asociación. 
Necesitamos pensar en esto mirándolo a nivel nacional. Necesitamos velar por los intereses de la asociación. 
El hermano Ray Zamora dijo que ambos documentos surgieron de nosotros y debemos asegurarnos de que la iglesia 
mantenga su autonomía y que ambos documentos surgieron de las iglesias en el momento en que fueron creados. Ambos 
son similares y tienen cosas buenas en ambos. Por lo tanto, sugiere permitir que las iglesias afirmen ambos y sigan siendo 
miembros de la asociación. 
El hermano Pedro peña respondió que debemos tener cuidado en mantener la autonomía de la iglesia y lo que la Biblia 
dice sobre la persona de Cristo o la verdad absoluta. 
El hermano Raúl Morales pidió que le explicaran la sección 3 E Recepciones en la Membrecía, Sub sec. 1 artículo 2. Me 
dice que la iglesia debe aceptar el 1963. Preguntó si se quitará la sección o se dejará. 
El hermano Pedro Peña respondió diciendo que lo que leyó es la forma en que está escrita la constitución original. Dijo 
además que las secciones originales no se cambiarán y explicó además que la constitución ha pasado por varios cambios 
desde 1925, 1963, 2000 y ahora 2023 y sospecha que habrá más en el futuro. 
El hermano Kevin Harris anuncia que habrá una pregunta más 
El hermano Joe Aguilar sugirió eliminar palabras en el párrafo inicial porque la declaración suena redundante, y sugirió 
cómo corregirla para que diga “con todas las entidades”. 
El hermano Pedro Peña Respondió que la razón por la que fue escrito de esta manera es porque estamos tratando de 
incluir a todos. 
El hermano Kevin Harris dijo que este era un informe informativo y que se presentará en la reunión anual para su 
votación. 
Más discusión: 
La hermana Juanita Morales dijo que le parece que las actualizaciones a la constitución son unilaterales y ahora el 
comité está solicitando que los miembros del comité sean aprobados para un año adicional de servicio. Dijo además que 
necesitamos tener nuevos miembros. 
El hermano Kevin Harris respondió remitiendo la sugerencia de la hermana Juanita Morales al comité de nominaciones. 
Moción: Ninguna Acción: No se tomó ninguna medida 
 Aprobación del Acta de la Junta Ejecutiva:  



46 

La hermana Blanca Marinero presentó informe a la asamblea. Se entregó una copia del acta a cada uno de los 
asistentes. 
Discusión: 
No hubo preguntas ni se hicieron correcciones.     
Moción: El hermano Kevin Harris contempló la moción para aceptar el acta tal como estaba prevista. 
Acción: los miembros votaron y aprobaron el acta tal como fue presentada. 
El hermano Zeke Díaz presento la moción para aceptar el acta tal como se les proporcionó y el hermano Eli Lara la 
secundó.  
 Informes informativos 
• Unión Femenil  

La hermana Maritza Bautista presentó el informe anunciando dos actividades para la Unión Femenil Misionera (UFM). 
Se entregaron copias a todos. Anunció que habrá un Día de Oración el 06/11/23 en diferentes iglesias a lo largo del Valle, 
y un Retiro de Oración el 02/02-03/2024 y tendrá un costo de $120 por persona en South Padre Island. 

• Unión Varonil 
El hermano Kevin Harris anunció que habrá una reunión en la Iglesia Bautista Belén en Weslaco y el informe fue 
entregado a los presentes. 

• Reconocimiento Hermano Eder Ibarra 
El hermano Kevin Harris le pidió al hermano Eder Ibarra que se pusiera de pie y lo reconoció por todos los años de 
servicio a la asociación y le agradeció todo el trabajo que realizó. Pidió a todos que se unieran a él en oración por el 
hermano Eder Ibarra ahora que continuará su servicio con STICH. Todos aplaudieron. 

• Información del hermano Tommy Dillards 
Hermano Tommy Dillards informó que la Universidad de Texas A&M en Corpus Christi ha experimentado dos 
avivamientos con sus estudiantes. El primero trajo a Cristo a ochenta estudiantes y el segundo avivamiento trajo a Cristo a 
cien estudiantes. 
 Clausura de la reunión 

Moción: levantar la sesión y hacer la oración final y la oración para el hermano Eder Ibarra. 
Acción: El hermano Daniel Caballero aprobó la moción y el hermano Ray Zamora secundo. 
Se levanta la sesión: a las 13:17 horas. 

• Anuncio adicional 
El hermano Joe Aguilar anunció que las becas para Inflación y Sabático están a punto de expirar a finales de año. Animó 
a todos los pastores a enviar sus solicitudes en texasbaptists.org. 
 
Informe de la reunión ejecutiva presentado al Consejo de RGVBA para su revisión el 17/10/2023; a la Asamblea Anual el 
28/10/23.                                        (Fecha)                 (Fecha) 
 
 
 



47 

 

 

Associa�onal Council Report 

In our first year beyond the planned end of the Interim Leadership Team, 2023 has been a year of strategic 
planning and administra�ve work for the Associa�on Council. 

As Chairman of the Execu�ve Board and Moderator for the Associa�on, I have been privileged to work with 
our 2023 Associa�on Council. I have found this team to be professional and to have a compassion for ministry 
that makes me proud to be a part of the Rio Grande Valley Bap�st Associa�on. 

With the dissolu�on of the Interim Leadership Team at the 111th Annual Mee�ng, the Associa�on Council 
assumed control of the daily opera�ons of the associa�on at the will of the Execu�ve Board in the absence of a 
Director of Mission. I was tasked by the Associa�on Council with overseeing daily opera�ons and repor�ng to 
that body and the Execu�ve Board. I have been pleased to work with our associa�on staff and I can say that 
our associa�on truly cares about our churches and seeks to advance the kingdom of God in the Rio Grande 
Valley. 

This year we received the resigna�on of Eder Ibarra, our Strategic Implementa�on Director. Eder served our 
associa�on for three years and was instrumental in advancing our work during a �me when we did not have a 
director. Our thanks and best wishes to Eder, who con�nues to do ministry with churches here in the Rio 
Grande Valley. 

We recently received the resigna�on of Aracely Salazar, who served the associa�on for six years as recep�onist 
and bookkeeper. Aracely truly has a heart for ministry and o�en found herself ministering and counseling with 
church members and pastors, who were struggling with adversity. We thank Aracely for her years of service to 
the Rio Grande Valley churches and the associa�on. 

Search Commitee Report 

The Execu�ve Board expressed an interest early this year to establishing a Search Commitee for a Director of 
Mission and named the Associa�on Council to begin that process of determining how they would go about the 
search process. The Associa�on Council has worked extra hard these months in establishing goals for what we 
are looking for in a Director of Mission. A job descrip�on was presented to the Execu�ve Board and approved 
during the July Execu�ve Board mee�ng. 

It is an�cipated that the job descrip�on will be distributed and we will begin receiving resumes from 
candidates for the posi�on between now and the end of this year. Our plan and our hope is that the new year 
will see a Director of Mission named to lead the Rio Grande Valley Associa�on. 

Kevin Harris 
Chairman of the Execu�ve Board and Moderator 



48 

 

 

Informe del Consejo de Asociación 

En nuestro primer año tras el final previsto del Equipo de Liderazgo Interino, 2023 ha sido un año de 
planificación estratégica y trabajo administra�vo para el Consejo de Asociación. 

Como Presidente del Consejo Ejecu�vo y Moderador de la Asociación, he tenido el privilegio de trabajar con 
nuestro Consejo de Asociación 2023. He encontrado que este equipo es profesional y �ene una compasión por 
el ministerio que me hace sen�r orgulloso de ser parte de la Asociación Bau�sta del Valle del Río Grande. 

Con la disolución del Equipo de Liderazgo Interino en la 111a Reunión Anual, el Consejo de Asociación asumió 
el control de las operaciones diarias de la asociación a voluntad del Consejo Ejecu�vo en ausencia de un 
Director de Misión. El Consejo de Asociación me encomendó la tarea de supervisar las operaciones diarias e 
informar a dicho órgano y al Consejo Ejecu�vo. Me ha complacido trabajar con el personal de nuestra 
asociación y puedo decir que nuestra asociación realmente se preocupa por nuestras iglesias y busca hacer 
avanzar el reino de Dios en el Valle del Río Grande. 

Este año recibimos la renuncia de Eder Ibarra, nuestro Director de Implementación Estratégica. Eder sirvió a 
nuestra asociación durante tres años y fue instrumental en el avance de nuestro trabajo durante un �empo en 
el que no tuvimos un director. Nuestro agradecimiento y mejores deseos para Eder, quien con�núa haciendo 
ministerio con las iglesias aquí en el Valle del Río Grande. 

Recientemente recibimos la renuncia de Aracely Salazar, quien sirvió a la asociación por seis años como 
recepcionista y contadora. Aracely realmente �ene un corazón para el ministerio y a menudo se encontró 
ministrando y aconsejando a los miembros de la iglesia y pastores, que estaban luchando con la adversidad. 
Agradecemos a Aracely por sus años de servicio a las iglesias del Valle del Río Grande y a la asociación. 

Informe del Comité de Búsqueda 

El Consejo Ejecu�vo expresó su interés a principios de este año para establecer un Comité de Búsqueda para 
un Director de Misión y nombró al Consejo de la Asociación para iniciar ese proceso de determinar cómo se 
llevaría a cabo el proceso de búsqueda. El Consejo de Asociación ha trabajado muy duro en estes meses para 
establecer los obje�vos que buscamos en un Director de Misión. Se presentó al Consejo Ejecu�vo una 
descripción del puesto, que fue aprobada durante la reunión del Consejo Ejecu�vo de julio. 

Se prevé que la descripción del puesto se distribuya y que comencemos a recibir currículos de candidatos al 
puesto de aquí a finales de año. Nuestro plan y nuestra esperanza es que en el nuevo año se nombre a un 
Director de Misión para dirigir la Asociación del Valle del Río Grande. 

Kevin Harris 

Presidente de la Junta Ejecu�va y Moderador 



49 

RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
DIRECTOR OF MISSIONS JOB DESCRIPTION 

 

The Rio Grande Valley Bap�st Associa�on is seeking a high-energy, self-star�ng, bilingual, full-�me Director of Missions 
(DOM) to work with our associa�on of 100+ churches along the Texas/Mexico Border in Cameron, Willacy, Hidalgo, and 
Starr coun�es of South Texas. We require a leader that has a proven history of working with a diverse group to 
accomplish goals that are decided by the group and implemented by the associa�onal staff, the associa�on commitees, 
and the member churches. 

Our associa�on has adopted a network model that connects churches with the purpose of crea�ng, developing, and 
fostering strategic partnerships that help churches fulfill God’s mission in their context. The associa�on is accomplishing 
this by organizing into three dis�nct networks: 

Edify – The edify network shall serve churches by fostering theological educa�on, ministry training, and leadership 
development, providing resources and training opportuni�es for partnering church leaders and members. 

Mul�ply – The mul�ply network shall serve churches by encouraging and suppor�ng efforts in church plan�ng, 
replan�ng, evangelism, and disciple making and resources that foster church health and revitaliza�on. 

Dignify – The dignify network shall encourage and assist the churches in fulfilling the Great Commission and the Great 
Commandment in their community and context by crea�ng bridges, making connec�ons, and providing training 
opportuni�es to educate, mobilize, and promote missions in the Rio Grande Valley, Texas on both sides of the 
Texas/Mexico border and the rest of the world. 

ROLES 

Associa�on Strategist – The DOM provides leadership in planning, coordina�ng, promo�ng, and implemen�ng the 
vision, mission, and work of the associa�on. While the governance of the associa�on is overseen by the Associa�on 
Council (elected officers and commitee chairs) and the Execu�ve Board (pastors and messengers of the associate 
member churches), the daily opera�on and implementa�on of the work of the associa�on is overseen by the DOM. 

Missionary – The DOM prac�ces, teaches, and leads the associa�on in engaging the local churches in fulfilling the Great 
Commission and reaching their local communi�es with the Good News of the Gospel. As leader, inspirer, catalyst, 
ac�vator, challenger, and proclaimer he calls on the associa�on to apply God’s Word to our local communi�es. 

Pastor/Shepherd – The DOM is a pastor/shepherd, providing pastoral care to pastors, churches, church staff, and church 
leaders in our ministry area. He will work to develop rela�onships with member churches, their staff, and leadership. He 
will encourage these churches and work towards their full engagement with the mission of the associa�on. 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

• Work coopera�vely with the Associa�on Council, the associa�on commitees and the Execu�ve Board of the 
associa�on. 

• Serve the churches in our associa�on, leading them toward a commitment to living a life on mission. Visit the 
churches in our associa�on, suppor�ng their ministries in a way that serves their needs. Work with churches, 
leading them in �mes of crisis/conflict resolu�on. Be available as a resource to our churches, prepared to teach 
and preach, provide pulpit supply, help them with interim support as they work through pastor and staff 
transi�ons. 

• Minister to the pastors in our associa�on, providing discipleship, counseling, mentoring, assistance in church 
conflict, orient new pastors in the associa�on, and develop pastoral support systems and growth opportuni�es. 
Support pastors, their families, and church leaders when there is an illness or crisis in the church or the family. 



50 

• Promote church rela�onships and mutual collabora�on, encouraging the associa�on to be a network of 
resources. Foster fellowship and promote unity among the churches in the associa�on. 

• Provide missionary leadership in the associa�on, leading churches to develop and maintain a biblical missions 
perspec�ve, start new church work, reach their communi�es with the Gospel message. Lead in developing, 
training, and supervising the three networks (Edify, Mul�ply, Dignify) and promote the work of these networks 
among the local community of churches. 

• Work with the associa�on commitees, the Associa�onal Council, and the Execu�ve Board to accomplish the 
work of the associa�on through the exis�ng commitees by following our exis�ng cons�tu�on and by-laws. 

• Maintain external rela�onships with denomina�onal en��es as outlined in the cons�tu�on and by-laws of the 
associa�on. 

• Manage the associa�on office, business affairs, and associa�on staff including office management, 
communica�on, staff supervision, finance and budget management, property management, legal affairs, 
purchasing, along with other du�es as needed to maintain the daily opera�on of the associa�on business as 
directed by the Associa�on Council and elected commitees. 

• Promote coopera�on and financial par�cipa�on among associa�on churches by working with member church 
leadership in mee�ng our annual offering and giving goals. 

• Communicate and respond to emails, phone calls, and other communica�ons in a thorough and �mely manner. 
Prepare and proofread leters, memos, spreadsheets, associa�on publica�ons, and other correspondence in an 
accurate and �mely manner. 

• Atend mee�ngs and par�cipate in training as required. 
• Maintain compliance with associa�on policies and procedures and cons�tu�onal by-laws. Maintain compliance 

with all state and federal laws and regulatory requirements. 
• Perform addi�onal du�es as required by the Associa�on Council and the Execu�ve Board of the associa�on. 
• Event planning for associa�on mee�ngs, training, and community outreach emphases. 
• Serve as liaison with the community (regional, state, and na�onal) speaking on behalf of the associa�on. 

REQUIREMENTS 

• In-depth understanding of a comprehensive field of knowledge, generally acquired through an earned master’s 
or doctoral degree in a related field (MDIV, DMIN, or PHD preferred). 

• Proficient ability to speak, read and write English and Spanish with a high level of proficiency. 
• 10 years of ministry experience in a local church se�ng. 
• 5 years of experience as a full-�me Lead/Senior Pastor in a local church se�ng or full-�me missionary with a 

recognized Bap�st missions organiza�on. 
• Knowledge of Texas Bap�st and/or Southern Bap�st church culture and polity, denomina�onal structure, and 

church programs and methodologies. 
• Ability to communicate Chris�an principles and Bap�st dis�nc�ves and teaching professionally. 
• Knowledge of commitee-led organiza�ons with the ability to work diploma�cally and moderate business 

mee�ngs according to Robert’s Rules of Order. 
• Ability to work in a high energy and rapidly changing work environment. Able to manage mul�ple projects and 

adjust to changing priori�es and guide staff toward the same. 
• Ability to maintain confiden�ality and promote this characteris�c where appropriate in the organiza�on. 
• Ability to effec�vely manage staff; requires administra�ve skills including staff selec�on, development, 

mo�va�on, scheduling, and evalua�on. 
• Excellent listening skills, interpersonal skills, and rela�onship building skills. 
• Ability to travel and work remotely in various geographic loca�ons with some overnight travel. 
• Ability to relate posi�vely, influen�ally, and sensi�vely to a broad spectrum of persons in a variety of mul�-�ered 

rela�onships and se�ngs to include clergy, laity, ins�tu�onal staff, various Bap�st organiza�ons, churches of all 
sizes and with a mix of cultural iden��es. 



51 

• Proficient ability to exhibit detail-oriented skills necessary to understand and manage a wide range of 
informa�on from a wide variety of sources. 

• Ability to priori�ze tasks and respond in crisis/pressure situa�ons; requires flexibility to meet changing business 
needs. 

• Proficient working knowledge and ability to use various office so�ware including, but not limited to Microso� 
Office products (Word, Publisher, Excel, etc.), Google Workspace and email, internet skills including website 
maintenance and communica�ons. Ac�ve membership in a local Bap�st church. 

 



52 



53 

Asociación Bau�sta del Valle Del Río Grande 
Director de Misiones Descripción Del Puesto 

 

La Asociación Bau�sta del Valle del Río Grande está buscando un Director de Misiones (DOM) de �empo completo, 
bilingüe, con gran energía y espíritu emprendedor para trabajar con nuestra asociación de más de 100 iglesias a lo largo 
de la frontera entre Texas y México en los condados de Cameron, Willacy, Hidalgo y Starr del sur de Texas. Requerimos a 
un líder que tenga una historia probada de trabajar con un grupo diverso para lograr las metas que son decididas por el 
grupo e implementadas por el personal de la asociación, los comités de la asociación, y las iglesias miembros. 

Nuestra asociación ha adoptado un modelo de red que conecta a las iglesias con el propósito de crear, desarrollar y 
fomentar asociaciones estratégicas que ayuden a las iglesias a cumplir la misión de Dios en su contexto. Para ello, la 
asociación se organiza en tres redes dis�ntas: 

Edificar - La red edificar servirá a las iglesias fomentando la educación teológica, la formación ministerial y el desarrollo 
del liderazgo, proporcionando recursos y oportunidades de formación a los líderes y miembros de las iglesias asociadas. 

Mul�plicar - La red mul�plicar servirá a las iglesias fomentando y apoyando los esfuerzos de plantación de iglesias, 
replantación, evangelización y formación de discípulos, así como los recursos que promuevan la salud y la revitalización 
de las iglesias. 

Dignificar - La red dignificar animará y asis�rá a las iglesias en el cumplimiento de la Gran Comisión y el Gran 
Mandamiento en su comunidad y contexto creando puentes, haciendo conexiones y proveyendo oportunidades de 
entrenamiento para educar, movilizar y promover misiones en el Valle del Río Grande, Texas en ambos lados de la 
frontera Texas/México y el resto del mundo. 

ROLES 

Estratega de la Asociación - El DOM proporciona liderazgo en la planificación, coordinación, promoción e 
implementación de la visión, misión y trabajo de la asociación. Mientras que el gobierno de la asociación es supervisado 
por el Consejo de la Asociación (oficiales electos y presidentes de comités) y la Mesa Ejecu�va (pastores y mensajeros de 
las iglesias miembros asociadas), la operación diaria e implementación del trabajo de la asociación es supervisada por la 
DOM. 

Misionero - El DOM prac�ca, enseña y lidera la asociación para comprometer a las iglesias locales en el cumplimiento de 
la Gran Comisión y alcanzar a sus comunidades locales con las Buenas Nuevas del Evangelio. Como líder, inspirador, 
catalizador, ac�vador, retador y proclamador, llama a la asociación a aplicar la Palabra de Dios a nuestras comunidades 
locales. 

Pastor - El DOM es un pastor/pastor que proporciona atención pastoral a pastores, iglesias, personal de la iglesia y 
líderes de la iglesia en nuestra área de ministerio. Trabajará para desarrollar relaciones con las iglesias miembros, su 
personal y liderazgo. Animará a estas iglesias y trabajará para que se comprometan plenamente con la misión de la 
asociación. 

 

RESPONSABILIDADES 

• Trabajar en cooperación con el Consejo de la Asociación, los comités de la asociación y la Junta Direc�va de la 
asociación. 

• Servir a las iglesias de nuestra asociación, guiándolas hacia el compromiso de vivir una vida en misión. Visitar a 
las iglesias de nuestra asociación, apoyando sus ministerios de manera que respondan a sus necesidades. 
Trabajar con las iglesias, guiándolas en �empos de crisis/resolución de conflictos. Estar disponibles como recurso 



54 

para nuestras iglesias, preparados para enseñar y predicar, proveer el púlpito, ayudarles con apoyo interino 
mientras trabajan a través de transiciones de pastor y personal. 

• Ministrar a los pastores de nuestra asociación, proporcionándoles discipulado, asesoramiento, tutoría, asistencia 
en conflictos eclesiás�cos, orientar a los nuevos pastores de la asociación y desarrollar sistemas de apoyo 
pastoral y oportunidades de crecimiento. Apoyar a los pastores, a sus familias y a los líderes de la iglesia cuando 
se produzca una enfermedad o una crisis en la iglesia o en la familia. 

• Promover las relaciones entre las iglesias y la colaboración mutua, fomentando que la asociación sea una red de 
recursos. Fomentar el compañerismo y promover la unidad entre las iglesias de la asociación. 

• Proporcionar liderazgo misionero en la asociación, guiando a las iglesias para que desarrollen y mantengan una 
perspec�va bíblica de las misiones, inicien nuevas obras en la iglesia y lleguen a sus comunidades con el mensaje 
del Evangelio. Liderar el desarrollo, la capacitación y la supervisión de las tres redes (Edificar, Mul�plicar, 
Dignificar) y promover el trabajo de estas redes entre la comunidad local de iglesias. 

• Trabajar con los comités de la asociación, el Consejo de la Asociación y la Junta Ejecu�va para llevar a cabo el 
trabajo de la asociación a través de los comités existentes siguiendo nuestra cons�tución y reglamentos vigentes. 

• Mantener relaciones externas con las en�dades denominacionales, tal y como se establece en los estatutos y 
reglamentos de la asociación. 

• Ges�onar la oficina de la asociación, los asuntos comerciales y el personal de la asociación, incluyendo la 
ges�ón de la oficina, la comunicación, la supervisión del personal, las finanzas y la ges�ón del presupuesto, la 
ges�ón de la propiedad, los asuntos legales, las compras, junto con otras tareas que sean necesarias para 
mantener el funcionamiento diario de los negocios de la asociación, según las indicaciones del Consejo Ejecu�vo. 

• Promover la cooperación y la par�cipación financiera entre las iglesias de la asociación trabajando con los 
líderes de las iglesias miembros para alcanzar nuestros obje�vos anuales de ofrendas y donaciones. 

• Comunicar y responder a correos electrónicos, llamadas telefónicas y otras comunicaciones de manera 
minuciosa y oportuna. Preparar y corregir cartas, memorandos, hojas de cálculo, publicaciones de la asociación y 
demás correspondencia de forma precisa y oportuna. 

• Asis�r a reuniones y par�cipar en cursos de formación cuando sea necesario. 
• Cumplir las polí�cas y procedimientos de la asociación y los estatutos. Cumplir todas las leyes estatales y 

federales y los requisitos reglamentarios. 
• Desempeñar otras funciones que le encomienden el Consejo y la Junta Direc�va de la asociación. 
• Planificar eventos para las reuniones de la asociación, la formación y las ac�vidades de extensión a la 

comunidad. 
• Servir de enlace con la comunidad (regional, estatal y nacional) hablando en nombre de la asociación. 

REQUISITOS 

• Conocimiento profundo de un campo de conocimiento exhaus�vo, generalmente adquirido a través de un 
máster o doctorado en un campo relacionado (MDIV, DMIN o PHD preferentemente). 

• Capacidad para hablar, leer y escribir inglés y español con un alto nivel de competencia. 
• 10 años de experiencia ministerial en una iglesia local. 
• 5 años de experiencia como Pastor Líder/Senior de �empo completo en una iglesia local o misionero de �empo 

completo con una organización misionera Bau�sta reconocida. 
• Conocimiento de la cultura y polí�ca de las iglesias Bau�stas de Texas y/o Bau�stas del Sur, estructura 

denominacional y programas y metodologías eclesiás�cas. 
• Habilidad para comunicar profesionalmente principios cris�anos y dis�n�vos y enseñanzas bau�stas. 
• Conocimiento de las organizaciones dirigidas por comités con la capacidad de trabajar diplomá�camente y 

moderar reuniones de negocios de acuerdo con las Reglas de Orden de Robert. 
• Capacidad para trabajar en un entorno laboral de gran energía y rápidamente cambiante. Capacidad para 

ges�onar múl�ples proyectos y ajustarse a prioridades cambiantes y orientar al personal en este sen�do. 
• Capacidad para mantener la confidencialidad y promover esta caracterís�ca cuando proceda en la organización. 



55 

• Capacidad para ges�onar eficazmente al personal; requiere ap�tudes administra�vas que incluyan la selección, 
el desarrollo, la mo�vación, la programación y la evaluación del personal. 

• Excelente capacidad de escucha, habilidades interpersonales y capacidad para entablar relaciones. 
• Capacidad para viajar y trabajar a distancia en diversas ubicaciones geográficas con algunos viajes nocturnos. 
• Capacidad para relacionarse de forma posi�va, influyente y sensible con un amplio espectro de personas en una 

variedad de relaciones y entornos de varios niveles, incluidos el clero, los laicos, el personal ins�tucional, 
diversas organizaciones bau�stas, iglesias de todos los tamaños y con una mezcla de iden�dades culturales. 

• Capacidad para exhibir las habilidades orientadas al detalle necesarias para comprender y ges�onar una amplia 
gama de información procedente de una gran variedad de fuentes. 

• Capacidad para priorizar tareas y responder en situaciones de crisis/presión; requiere flexibilidad para sa�sfacer 
las necesidades cambiantes de la empresa. 

• Conocimientos prác�cos y capacidad para u�lizar diversos programas informá�cos de oficina, incluidos, entre 
otros, los productos de Microso� Office (Word, Publisher, Excel, etc.), Google Workspace y el correo electrónico, 
conocimientos de Internet, incluido el mantenimiento de si�os web y las comunicaciones. Ser miembro ac�vo de 
una iglesia bau�sta local. 



56 



57 

September 2023 Financial Reports 

  



58 

 



59 
 



60 

 



61  



62 



63 

Church Dona�ons Advancement 
October 2023 Report 

    May God our Father and the Lord Jesus Christ give you grace and peace. Let us give thanks to the God and 
Father of our Lord Jesus Christ!  

      After the resurrection of Jesus, He and His disciples were gathered on the Mount of Olives. The disciples 
were still not totally clear about the chain of events they had witnessed over the last forty days of what the 
future held. Suddenly, Jesus rose from their midst and ascended into heaven. Two angels appeared and, 
seemingly noticing the bemused looks on the disciples’ faces, said:  11 “Men of Galilee,” they said, “why do you 
stand here looking into the sky? This same Jesus, who has been taken from you into heaven, will come back in 
the same way you have seen him go into heaven.” (Acts 1:11) 

    Since Luke, the author of Acts, doesn’t tell us how the disciples responded to the angels’ words, let me take a 
guess: What the angels said- that Jesus is going to return-we need to rethink our perspectives, our priorities, and 
our plans. 

   Maybe this was not the first indication the disciples had that Jesus would go away and then return. He had 
stated that fact plainly in John 14:3. “3 And if I go and prepare a place for you, I will come back and take you to 
be with me that you also may be where I am.” But the Ascension was different-they saw Jesus leave earth and 
ascend into the heavens. Thinking long term, they probably wondered, what now? What do we do while we wait 
for His return?  

   Jesus had given them instructions to leave Jerusalem and take the Gospel into all the world. But still, they had 
to have questions: How long will it be before Jesus returns? What does serving Jesus look like going forward?  

   This represents our Association going out to Jerusalen, Judea, Samaria, and unto the ends of the earth. Sharing 
the gospel with urgency because the return of Christ is imminent.   

  This year we have seen a slight decrease in our donations to our Association, and that indicates that we need to 
take Christ imminent return serious and change our perspectives, priorities, and plans to reach people for the 
kingdom of God.  

Yearly Contributions of the RGVBA 

                                                                  Budgeted                                  Contributed   
• 2017 January thru December                  $72,000                                      $80,066.52 
• 2018 January thru December                  $80,700                                      $85,489.41 
• 2019 January thru December                  $86,200                                      $83,692.90 
• 2020 January thru December                  $109,650                                    $61,207.28 
• 2021 January thru December                  $65,000                                      $73,067.49 
• 2022 January thru December                  $65,000                                      $75,922.56 
• 2023 January thru October                      $82,000            So far this year $53,321.94 

   You will notice that there is a small drop in giving in 2019, and then an even larger drop in giving in 2020. I 
think that the drop we see in 2020 was caused by the direct effects of Covid 19. 

   In 2021 the Association started recovering, but at the same time our new vision was beginning to work as we 
stared focusing on God’s kingdom. 

   With that in mind, we have had many discussions with Pastor’s who are telling me that they have given all 
that is required by the Association to be part of it. They don’t see that the Association is a ministry of missions, 
reaching people for Christ through missions. Starting missions, training leaders, and providing the resources 
needed for accomplishing our task of expanding God’s kingdom.  



64 

   If our churches would consider giving offerings to the Association on a percentage basis, it would ultimately 
increase giving to the Association. 

   Back in 2006 the Association put in their constitution that each church should give at least $250.00 per year to 
belong to the Association, and with the new constitution being considered it may increase to $300.00 per year. I 
think we need to change our perspective on the views we have and set our priorities correctly as we plan for this 
coming year.   

   My concern is that we meet our responsibilities to the Lord, and that we carry on His work through our giving 
to God’s Kingdom through the RGVBA, to be able to carry on kingdom work in our Association of reaching 
people to Christ. 

   This has been a difficult year for our Association. We did not do some of the ministry we should of because 
our concentration has been on the rewriting of the constitution. Wording in it and other matters with the 
constitution. Ministry should be first in our minds. The Association is a ministry not a business.  

   As we get ready to further implement the networks by which we are working, (which are EDIFY, MULTIPLY, 
and DIGNIFY), we need to consider our giving to the work of the ministry.  

   The RGVBA is now a network of churches that are connected by the love of Jesus Christ for the purpose of 
reaching people to Christ. We need to continue promoting and expanding the vision God has given as we 
network to reach out. 

   According to the U.S. census bureau 2021, the population of the state of Texas is 40% Hispanic, 39.4% Anglo, 
12.2% Black, 5.4% Asians, and other 17.6%.  

   In the Rio Grande Valley, we have a 93.53% Hispanic population and a 6.47% non-Hispanic population. I am 
sure that you can see our need here in the RGVBA. 

   Again, I use the words urgency and imminent, working together and reaching out to our churches to work 
together for God’s kingdom.  

   The participation of our churches will increase, and God will bless our Association. Let us continue to move 
forward in all our Lord has for us and may the grace and peace of our Lord Jesus Christ be with you all. 

In His Name, 
Raúl Morales  

 

 



65 

Avance de las Donaciones de las Iglesias 
Informe Octubre 2023 

    Que Dios nuestro Padre y el Señor Jesucristo les den gracia y paz. Demos gracias al Dios y Padre de nuestro 
Señor Jesucristo.  

      Después de la resurrección de Jesús, Él y sus discípulos estaban reunidos en el Monte de los Olivos. Los 
discípulos aún no tenían del todo clara la cadena de acontecimientos que habían presenciado durante los 
úl�mos cuarenta días de lo que les deparaba el futuro. De repente, Jesús se levantó de entre ellos y ascendió al 
cielo. Aparecieron dos ángeles y, al parecer, se dieron cuenta de las miradas perplejas de los discípulos:  11 
"Galileos -les dijeron-, ¿por qué estáis aquí mirando al cielo? Este mismo Jesús, que ha sido arrebatado de 
vosotros al cielo, volverá de la misma manera que le habéis visto ir al cielo." (Hechos 1:11) 

    Como Lucas, el autor de los Hechos, no nos dice cómo respondieron los discípulos a las palabras de los 
ángeles, permítanme hacer una conjetura: Lo que dijeron los ángeles -que Jesús va a volver- nos obliga a 
replantearnos nuestras perspec�vas, nuestras prioridades y nuestros planes. 

   Tal vez no era el primer indicio que tenían los discípulos de que Jesús se iría y luego volvería. Él lo había dicho 
claramente en Juan 14:3. "3 Y si me voy y os preparo un lugar, volveré y os tomaré para que estéis conmigo, 
para que también vosotros estéis donde yo estoy". Pero la Ascensión fue diferente: vieron a Jesús dejar la 
�erra y ascender a los cielos. Pensando a largo plazo, probablemente se preguntaron, ¿y ahora qué? ¿Qué 
hacemos mientras esperamos su regreso?  

   Jesús les había dado instrucciones para salir de Jerusalén y llevar el Evangelio a todo el mundo. Pero aún así, 
tenían que hacerse preguntas: ¿Cuánto falta para que Jesús regrese? ¿Cómo será servir a Jesús en el futuro?  

   Esto representa a nuestra Asociación saliendo a Jerusalén, Judea, Samaria y hasta los confines de la �erra. 
Compar�endo el evangelio con urgencia porque el regreso de Cristo es inminente.   

  Este año hemos visto una ligera disminución en nuestras donaciones a nuestra Asociación, y eso indica que 
necesitamos tomar en serio el inminente regreso de Cristo y cambiar nuestras perspec�vas, prioridades y 
planes para alcanzar a la gente para el reino de Dios.  

Contribuciones Anuales de la RGVBA 

                                                                   Contribuciones  Presupuestadas   
• 2017 Enero a Diciembre   $72,000   $80,066.52 
• 2018 Enero a Diciembre   $80,700   $85,489.41 
• 2019 Enero a Diciembre   $86,200   $83,692.90 
• 2020 Enero a diciembre   $109.650   $61.207,28 
• 2021 Enero a diciembre   $65.000   $73.067,49 
• 2022 Enero a diciembre   $65.000   $75.922,56 
• 2023 Enero a octubre   $82.000   En lo que va del año $53.321,94 

   Usted notará que hay una pequeña caída en dar en 2019, y luego una caída aún mayor en dar en 2020. Creo 
que la caída que vemos en 2020 fue causada por los efectos directos de Covid 19. 

   En 2021 la Asociación empezó a recuperarse, pero al mismo �empo nuestra nueva visión empezaba a 
funcionar, ya que empezamos a centrarnos en el Reino de Dios. 

   Con esto en mente, hemos tenido muchas discusiones con pastores que me dicen que han dado todo lo que 
la Asociación requiere para formar parte de ella. Ellos no ven que la Asociación es un ministerio de misiones, 
alcanzando a la gente para Cristo a través de misiones. Iniciando misiones, capacitando líderes y proveyendo 
los recursos necesarios para cumplir con nuestra tarea de expandir el reino de Dios.  



66 

   Si nuestras iglesias consideraran dar ofrendas a la Asociación sobre una base porcentual, en úl�ma instancia 
aumentaría las ofrendas a la Asociación. 

   En 2006, la Asociación estableció en sus estatutos que cada iglesia debía dar al menos $250.00 por año para 
pertenecer a la Asociación, y con los nuevos estatutos que se están considerando, podría aumentar a $300.00 
por año. Creo que tenemos que cambiar nuestra perspec�va sobre los puntos de vista que tenemos y 
establecer correctamente nuestras prioridades al planificar este próximo año.   

   Mi preocupación es que cumplamos con nuestras responsabilidades para con el Señor, y que llevemos 
adelante Su obra a través de nuestras ofrendas al Reino de Dios por medio de la RGVBA, para poder llevar 
adelante la obra del Reino en nuestra Asociación de alcanzar a las personas para Cristo. 

   Este ha sido un año di�cil para nuestra Asociación. No hemos realizado parte del ministerio que deberíamos 
porque nos hemos concentrado en reescribir los estatutos. La redacción y otros asuntos relacionados con la 
cons�tución. El ministerio debería ser lo primero en nuestras mentes. La Asociación es un ministerio, no un 
negocio.  

A medida que nos preparamos para seguir implementando las redes en las que estamos trabajando (que son 
EDIFY, MULTIPLY y DIGNIFY), tenemos que tener en cuenta nuestras necesidades y prioridades.



67 

2023 Church Contribu�ons 

 



68 

 
 



69 

 
 

  



70 

INACTIVE CHURCHES 



71 

 

 
UNION FEMENIL BAUTISTA MISIONERA / RGV 

“Because we are God's collaborators” 
1 Corinthians 3:9 

Annual report 2022-2023 

 

 October: (1) On October 18, 2022 we participated in a pastor training at the VBR Mission Camp. The 
Director Sr. Eva Torres shared a message with Pastor's wives, with the theme “A collaborative couple of 
the Kingdom” based on Acts 18, and the council also prepared a time of fellowship. (2) The UFM of IB 
Emanuel de Alton “Dorcas” invited Director Eva Torres to share a message of the word at a health event 
on the 22nd. (3) We participated together with Texas WMU with different activities in two weeks, study 
was shared for women. October 19-26. Ending with an evangelism event for Children where there were 
professions of faith. 

 November: (1) On November 7th we celebrated the world day of prayer in 3 different locations, 
McAllen Prince of Peace Baptist Church, Southside Mercedes Baptist Church, First Fair Baptist Church, 
with an overall attendance of 261 and 43 churches represented. (2) The GDP of the cornfields invited us 
to carry out the UFM leadership installation of the local church, on November 5. (3) On the 21st, the 
missionary work carried out in October in Penitas was followed up by sharing the word of God with the 
attendees and crafts. 

 December: (1) International Mission Night was held on December 17 at Calvary Baptist Church of 
McAllen, with 15 churches that represented a country with food and typical costume, emphasizing the 
Week of Prayer for International Missions, and Missionary Offering “ Lottie Moon ” An overall 
attendance of 195 and 19 churches represented. (2) we also collect winter clothing to share at the Mexico 
border with migrant families, the Rio Grande Bible Church were in charge of distribution. 

 January: (1) we begin the year with 40 days of fasting and Prayer for the ministries of UFBM RGV 
and the Prayer Retreat. (2) On January 21 we were at Calvario Baptist Church in Weslaco, doing the 
installation of UFM Leadership of the local church. 

 February :(1) The 2023 UFBM Prayer Retreat took place on February 8 at the Hilton Garden Inn 
on El Padre Island. The topic was: LAY YOUR BURDEN ON CHRIST based on Verse 1 Peter 5:7 with 
different speakers. With an attendance of 335 women and 40 churches represented. Recognition was also 
given to Sister. Ayda Hernández for her collaboration on the council for 23 years. (2) The GA's leaders 
had a sleepover for the girls on the 24th and 25th at the IB Emanuel in MCALLEN TX. There was an 
attendance of 70 people, including girls and leaders. (3) In the month of February we emphasize the 
ministry of the RGV Baptist Missionary Women's Union sharing with local churches. 

 March: (1 ) On March 11, the UFM leadership of the IB Belen of Weslaco was installed . Director 
Eva Torres shared the message and Secretary Edna Ramos proceeded with the installation. (2) In the week 
of March 12 to 18, the Annie Armstrong Missionary Offering Promotion was held, known for the 
resurrection offering. Inviting the church to participate and sharing material and information with those 
who required it. (3) On Saturday, March 18, we were in the cornfields carrying out missionary action and 
families in missions; we supported the church in cleaning its facilities, evangelized around the church with 
families sharing the gospel. We pray that God touches hearts with his word. We also participate in 



72 

missionary action at the Harlingen GDP. Going out to evangelize their surroundings. And sharing some 
personal hygiene items to the homeless. 

 April: (1) On April 15, 2023 we had the missionary activity with the children in missions in Briarcliff 
Nursing & Rehab Center where the children sang praises to the residents and made a craft. The children 
with their churches represented brought personal hygiene items that were handed out. At the end, the 
children spent some recreational time in the park celebrating their missionary action of love. 33 children, 
5 young people and 20 adults present with 12 churches represented. (2) On the 29th we celebrated children 
in missions in the lower valley area , the children visited the Donna Police Department where they 
delivered a basket with different snacks , praying for them and thanking them for their community work, 
then they spent some recreational time in the park, 22 attendees and 5 churches represented. 

 May: The Director of UFBM RGV was invited on May 5 to Horeb Baptist Church in Brownsville to 
present the ministry of UFBM and encourage working in her church with women. 

 June : (1) On June 2 and 3, the girls in action camp was held, we received an attendance of 53 girls 
with 11 churches represented. (2)Members of the council were invited to share the meditation of the word 
at a mother-daughter event at Emanuel Baptist Church in Alton, Texas. It was a great blessing.  

  July: As a council we served as ushers on July 15 at BT in McAllen as part of the 2023 Baptist 
convention. The event was supported by the leadership from the council. 

 August: (1) On August 4 and 5 we begin our 2023-2024 annual planning time, we thank God for his 
wisdom and direction to continue working for the growth of his Kingdom. (2) On August 11 and 12, 2023, 
the youth camp was held; we received an attendance of 47 young people with churches represented from 
here in the valley. 

 September: As women we were invited to the installation of new leadership of UFM of the GDP 
of La Joya on September 3 where a Reflection of the word was shared, (2) On September 9, 2023 we 
celebrated the 85th anniversary of the Women's Union Bautista Misionera RGBVA, with the special 
participation of 7 former directors who received special recognition with a commemorative band, their 
crown and a biographical book of the directors with part of the history. Some brothers were recognized 
for their support in the work of the ministry. The sisters who have been part of the council during these 
years were recognized, and the installation of new leadership 2023-2024 was made, it was a great 
commemorative moment to see the work of the Lord in these 85 years with Hispanic Baptist women, 102 
people with 24 churches represented. 

We thank God for being called collaborators of his Kingdom, our 
gratitude to those who have supported us during this year to be able 
to carry out each missionary activity. 
 
Director: Eva Torres Assistant Director: Maria G. Pena 
Secretaries: Marisa Bautista, Edna Ramos and Bithia Garza 

Commemorative photo of the 85th Anniversary 
 
 
 
 

 



73 

UNION FEMENIL BAUTISTA  MISIONERA/RGV 
“Porque nosotros somos Colaboradoras de Dios”        

 1ª de Corintios 3:9 
                           Reporte anual 2022-2023 

 

 Octubre: (1) El 18 de octubre del 2022 participamos en un entrenamiento de pastores en el Campamento 
VBR de misión. La Directora Hna. Eva Torres compartió un mensaje con las esposas de Pastor, con el 
tema “Una pareja colaboradora del Reino” basado en Hechos 18, y el concilio también preparo un tiempo 
de compañerismo. (2) La UFM de  IB  Emanuel de Alton “Dorcas” invitaron a la Directora Eva Torres a 
compartir un mensaje de la palabra en un evento de salud el día 22. (3)Participamos unidas con Texas 
WMU con diferentes actividades en dos semanas, se compartieron estudio para las mujeres. 19-26 de 
octubre. Terminando con un evento evangelismo para los Niños donde hubo profesiones de fe.  

 Noviembre: (1) El 7 de noviembre celebramos el día mundial de oración en 3 diferentes lugares, Iglesia 
Bautista Príncipe de Paz McAllen, Iglesia Bautista Southside Mercedes, Primera Iglesia Bautista de la 
Feria, con una asistencia general de 261 y 43 iglesias representadas. (2) La PIB de las milpas, nos invito 
a realizar la instalación de liderazgo de UFM de la iglesia local, el 5 de noviembre. (3) el día  21 se  dio 
seguimiento  a la obra misionera llevada a cabo en octubre en penitas compartiendo la palabra de Dios 
con los asistentes y manualidades. 

 Diciembre: (1) La Noche Internacional de Misiones  se llevo a cabo el 17 de diciembre en Calvary 
Baptist Church de McAllen, con 15 iglesias que representaron un país con comida y traje típico, haciendo 
énfasis en la Semana de Oración por Misiones Internacionales, y Ofrenda Misionera “Lottie Moon”  Una 
asistencia general de  195 y 19 iglesias representadas. (2) también colectamos ropa de invierno para 
compartir en la frontera de México con familias migrantes, la iglesia Rio Grande Bible church se 
encargaron de la distribución.   

 Enero: (1) comenzamos el ano  con 40 días de ayuno y  Oración por los ministerios de UFBM RGV y 
el Retiro de oración. (2) el día 21 de Enero estuvimos en Iglesia Bautista Calvario de Weslaco, Haciendo 
la instalación de Liderazgo de  UFM de la iglesia local. 

 Febrero:(1) El Retiro de Oración de la UFBM 2023 se llevo a cabo el día 8 de febrero en El Hilton 
Garden Inn en La Isla de El Padre. El Tema fue: DEPOSITA TU CARGA EN CRISTO basado en el 
Versículo  1 Pedro 5:7  con diferentes conferencistas.  Con una asistencia de 335 mujeres y 40 iglesias 
representadas. También se entrego un reconocimiento para la Hna. Ayda Hernández por su colaboración 
en el concilio por 23 anos. (2) Las líderes de GA’s tuvieron una pijamada para las niñas los días 24 y 25 
en la I.B Emanuel de MCALLEN TX . Se conto con una asistencia de 70 personas entre niñas y lideres. 
(3) En el mes de Febrero hacemos énfasis del los ministerio de Unión Femenil Bautista Misionera RGV 
compartiendo con las iglesias locales.   

 Marzo: (1)El 11 de marzo,  se instalo al liderazgo de UFM de la IB Belen de wesalco. La Directora 
Eva Torres compartió el mensaje y la Secretaria Edna Ramos procedió a la instalación. (2) En la semana 
del 12 al 18 marzo se hizo la Promoción de ofrenda misionera Annie Armstrong conocida por la ofrenda 
de resurrección.  Invitando a la iglesia a participar y compartiendo material e información con quienes lo 
requerían. (3) El sábado 18 de marzo estuvimos PIB las milpas llevando a cabo acción misionera y familias 
en misiones, se apoyo a la iglesia en limpieza de sus instalaciones, se evangelizo alrededor de la iglesia 
con las familias compartiendo el evangelio. Oramos para que Dios toque corazones con su palabra. 
También participamos en acción misionera en la PIB de Harligen. Saliendo a evangelizar a sus 
alrededores. Y compartiendo algunos artículos de higiene personal a los homeless.  



74 

 Abril: (1) El 15 de abril del 2023 tuvimos la actividad misionera con los niños en misiones en Briarcliff 
Nursing & Rehab Center donde los niños entonaron alabanzas a los residentes y elaboraron una 
manualidad. Los niños con sus iglesias representadas llevaron artículos de higiene personal que fueron 
entregados. Al terminar los niños pasaron  un tiempo recreativo en el parque celebrando su acción de amor 
misionera. 33 niños, 5 jóvenes y 20 adultos presentes con 12 iglesias representadas. (2) El dia 29 
celebramos niños en misiones en el area del bajo valle, visitaron los niños al departamento de policía de 
donna donde entregaron una canasta con diferentes snacks, orando por ellos y agradeciendo por su labor 
comunitaria, después pasaron un tiempo recreativo en el parque, 22 asistentes y  representadas 5 iglesias.   

 Mayo: La Directora de UFBM Rgv fue invitada el día 5 de mayo a Iglesia Bautista Horeb de 
Brownsville para presentar el ministerio de UFBM y animar a trabajar en su iglesia con las mujeres. 

 Junio: (1) El 2 y 3 de junio se llevo a cabo el campamento de niñas en acción, recibimos una asistencia 
de 53 niñas con 11 iglesias representadas. (2)Miembros del concilio fueron invitadas a compartir la 
meditación de la palabra en un evento de madre e hija en Iglesia Bautista Emanuel de Alton, Tx. Fue de 
gran bendición.  

  Julio: Como concilio  servimos como ujieres el día 15 de julio en BT de McAllen como parte de la 
convención Bautista 2023. Se apoyo en el evento con liderazgo del concilio.  

 Agosto:  (1) Los días 4 y 5 de agosto comenzamos nuestro tiempo de planeamiento anual 2023-2024 
damos gracias a Dios por su sabiduría y dirección para seguir obrando para el crecimiento de su Reino. 
(2) Los días 11 y 12 de agosto del 2023 se llevó a cabo el campamento de jóvenes, recibimos una asistencia 
de 47 jóvenes con iglesias representadas de aquí del valle.  

 Septiembre: Como femenil fuimos invitadas a la instalación de nuevo liderazgo de UFM de la PIB 
de la joya el día 3 De Septiembre donde se compartió una Reflexión de la palabra, (2) El 9 de septiembre 
del 2023 celebramos el 85 aniversario de unión Femenil Bautista Misionera RGBVA, con la participación 
especial de 7 ex-directoras a las cuales se les hizo un reconocimiento especial una banda conmemorativa, 
su corona y un libro biográfico de las directoras con parte de la historia. Se reconoció algunos hermanos 
por su apoyo en la labor del ministerio. Se reconoció a las hermanas que han sido parte del concilio durante 
estos años, y se hizo la instalación de nuevo liderazgo 2023-2024, fue un gran momento conmemorable 
de ver la obra del señor en estos 85 años con mujeres Bautistas Hispanas, 102 personas con 24 iglesias 
representadas.  

Agradecemos a Dios por ser llamadas colaboradoras de su Reino, 
nuestro agradecimiento a quienes nos han apoyado durante este año 
para poder realizar cada actividad misionera.  
 
Diectora: Eva Torres  Asistente de Directora: Maria G. Pena  
Secretarias: Marisa Bautista, Edna Ramos y Bithia Garza 

Foto conmemorativa del 85th Aniversario 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



75 

 

 



76 

 



77 

 

CREATED ON PURPOSE FOR A PURPOSE 
And we know that for those who love God all things work together for good, for those who are called according to his purpose. 
Romans 8:28 

Just how important is purpose for our lives? Research has consistently linked purpose to heightened levels of emo�onal and 
mental well-being and overall life sa�sfac�on. The Apostle Paul wrote, “We are God’s workmanship, created in Christ to do 
good works, which God prepared in advance for us to do.” From the beginning, we were created with an innate need for 
meaning and purpose in life.  

STCH Ministries’ mission of “healing hearts and sharing hope” guides the vision for the future of this ministry. Before �me 
began, the eternal God planned to accomplish his purposes in Christ through us. God designed us to reflect his image in our 
ability to create, cul�vate and care for our planet and the people who inhabit it. 

Through God’s leadership and power, we con�nue to press on to become all that God has in store for STCH Ministries. As an 
organiza�on we strive to ensure that all phases of this ministry will be completed in a manner that will ul�mately bring honor 
and glory to Jesus Christ. We want to ensure that the ministry provided to families and individuals is Christ-based and of the 
highest professional standard. Last, we want to nurture and grow our children and families spiritually to have an ac�ve, deep 
and growing rela�onship with Jesus Christ. 

Our mission statement is to honor God, to reach children and families with His love and truth while enabling others to join us 
in our ministry. 

Our vision statement is to show the love of Christ to each and every child and family to whom we minister. We do this by 
crea�ng a culture where the needs of children and families are seen and met in crea�ve and innova�ve ways. Efficiency and 
accountability are strategic priori�es with effec�veness and excellence the resul�ng evidence. We desire God to use STCH 
Ministries in mighty ways to do His work. This is our purpose. 

Individuals Directly Served by STCH Ministries in 2022 
147 Served in Homes for Children – A campus that provides a loving, family environment for children in need. 
122 Served in Homes for Families – A safe haven for mothers and their children whose families are in crisis. 
3,226 Served in Family Counseling – Professional counseling that is both clinically excellent and distinctively Christian. 
11,444 Served in Interna�onal – Family-friendly mission trips to the Dominican Republic, Costa Rica and Peru where Americans 
can work side by side with local believers in churches, orphanages, and Chris�an schools. 

115 Served in Faith & Work – Equipping men and women with the job skills and confidence to become self-sufficient. 
529 Served in Faith & Finances – A twelve-week class that teaches biblical principles of money management. 
63 Families Served in Family Support – Connec�ng people in need with resources and guidance. 
111 Served in Pastor Care – Ministering to ministers through confiden�al counseling and pulpit supply. 
Various groups and organiza�ons directly served in Ministry Consul�ng – Sharing exper�se and resources with other like-
minded ministries. 

193 Professions of Faith 

  
www.STCHM.org 

2023 Report 



78 

 

CREADO A PROPÓSITO PARA UN PROPÓSITO 

Y sabemos que a los que aman a Dios, todas las cosas les ayudan a bien, esto es, a los que conforme a su propósito 
son llamados. Romanos 8:28 

¿Cuanta importancia �ene propósito en nuestras vidas? Estudios consistentemente han mostrado una conexión entre el 
tener propósito y altos niveles de salud �sica y emocional, y una sa�sfacción general de vida. El Apóstol Pablo escribió: 
“Porque somos hechura suya, creados en Cristo Jesús para buenas obras, las cuales Dios preparó de antemano para que 
anduviésemos en ellas.” Desde el principio, fuimos creados con una necesidad natural para significado y propósito en la 
vida.  

La misión del Ministerios STCH de estar “Sanando Corazones y Compar�endo Esperanza” guía la visión para el futuro de 
este ministerio. Antes de que comenzara el �empo, el Dios eterno hizo planes para cumplir sus propósitos en Cristo por 
medio de nosotros. Dios nos diseñó para reflejar su imagen por medio de nuestra habilidad de crear, cul�var y cuidar a 
nuestro planeta y a los que habitan en ella.  

Por medio del liderazco y el poder de Dios, nosotros proseguimos para llegar a ser todo lo que Dios �ene en mente para 
Ministerios STCH. Como una organización, nos esforzamos para asegurar que todas las áreas del ministerio puedan ser 
realizadas en una manera que traigan honra y gloria a Jesucristo. Queremos asegurarnos que el ministerio que 
proveemos a familias e individuos esté basado en Cristo, y que alcanza un alto nivel profesional. Por úl�mo, queremos 
nutrir y hacer crecer a nuestros niños y familias espiritualmente hasta que tengan una relación con Jesucristo que es 
ac�va, profunda, y que sigue creciendo. 

Nuestra declaración de misión es honrar a Dios, alcanzar a niños y familias con Su amor y verdad mientras que invitamos 
a otros para trabajar juntamente con nosotros en nuestro ministerio. 

Nuestra visión es mostrar el amor de Cristo a cada niño y familia a quien ministramos. Hacemos esto por medio de crear 
una cultura en la cual las necesidades de niños y familias son iden�ficadas y sa�sfechas en formas crea�vas e 
innovadoras. Eficiencia y responsabilidad son prioridades estratégicos, y efec�vidad y excelencia son la evidencia de los 
resultados. Nuestro deseo es que Dios use a Ministerios STCH grandemente para hacer Su trabajo. Esto es nuestro 
propósito. 

Individuals Directly Served by STCH Ministries in 2022 
147 atendidos en Hogares para Niños - un campus que provee un amoroso ambiente familiar para niños necesitados. 
122 atendidos en Hogares para Familias – Un lugar seguro para madres y sus hijos, quienes familias están en crisis. 
3,226 atendidos en Consejería Familiar – Consejería profesional que es clinicamente excelente y dis�n�vamente 
Cris�ana. 
11,444 atendidos en Internacional – viajes de misiones para familias a la Republica Dominicana, Costa Rica y Peru, 
donde Norteamericanos pueden trabajar codo a codo con creyentes locales en iglesias, orfanatos, y colegios Cris�anos. 
115 atendidos en Fe y Trabajo – Equipando a hombres y mujeres con habilidades y la confianza para llegar a ser auto-
suficientes. 
159 atendidos en Fe y Finanzas – una clase de 12 semanas que enseña principios bíblicos del manejo de dinero. 
63 familias atendidas en Apoyo Familiar – conectando personas necesitadas con recursos y consejos. 
111 atendidos en Cuidado Pastoral – Ministrando a ministros y pastores por medio de consejería confidencial, y 
ayudando a cubrir su púlpito mientras tanto. 
Varias organizaciones y grupos atendidos en Asesoría de Ministerio – Compar�endo experiencia y recursos con otros 
ministerios que �enen el mismo fin. 
193 Profesiones de Fe en Cristo 



79 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2023 Rio Grande Valley Bap�st Associa�on 

112th Annual Mee�ng 

NEW BUSINESS ITEMS 



80 



81 

2024 Proposed Budget 

 



82 

 

 



83 

 

Nomina�ng Commitee Report 
September 22, 2023 

The Nomina�ng commitee has been in contact with each other through text, e-mail and in person at different 
func�ons when we see each other. 

Commitee members are Hector Iracheta Chairperson, Templo Nehemias CC, San Juan 

• Edna Ramos, IB Jerusalén Pharr TX. 
• Lupita Peña IB Belén Weslaco 
• Jorge Navarro Vice Chair. Primera Iglesia Bau�sta La Feria TX. 

The tasks at hand: 

This is the list of Nominees for next ecclesias�c work year: 

Vice Moderator: Pedro Peña Pastor Iglesia Bau�sta Belén, Weslaco. 

Trustees: 1. Tommy Dillard San Benito Bap�st Temple  

                  2.  Danny Smith FBC Pharr  

Cons�tu�on and By-laws: 1. Othal Brand Jr. Calvary Bap�st Church McAllen 

        2.  Pastor Pedro Peña Iglesia Bau�sta Belén Weslaco 

Creden�aling and Pe��oners: Joacim Ramos IB Jerusalen Pharr TX. 

Evangelism: Pastor Olber Roblero  

Personnel: Connie Garza Calvary BC McAllen  

Yours in Christ, 

The Nomina�ng commitee. 
Hector G. Iracheta Chair  



84 

Informe del Comité de Candidaturas 
22 de sep�embre de 2023 

El Comité de Nominaciones ha estado en contacto entre sí a través de texto, correo electrónico y en persona 
en diferentes funciones cuando nos vemos. 

Los miembros del comité son Hector Iracheta Chairperson, Templo Nehemias CC, San Juan 

- Edna Ramos, IB Jerusalén Pharr TX. 

- Lupita Peña IB Belén Weslaco 

- Jorge Navarro Vicepresidente. Primera Iglesia Bau�sta La Feria TX. 

Las tareas que tenemos entre manos: 

Esta es la lista de Nominados para el próximo año de trabajo eclesiás�co: 

Vice Moderador: Pedro Peña Pastor Iglesia Bau�sta Belén, Weslaco. 

Custodios: 1. Tommy Dillard Templo Bau�sta San Benito  

                  2.  Danny Smith FBC Pharr  

Cons�tución y Reglamentos: 1. Othal Brand Jr. Calvary Bap�st Church McAllen 

        2.  Pastor Pedro Peña Iglesia Bau�sta Belén Weslaco 

Credencialización y Pe�cionarios: Joacim Ramos IB Jerusalen Pharr TX. 

Evangelismo: Pastor Olber Roblero  

Personal: Connie Garza Calvary BC McAllen  

Suyos en Cristo, 

El Comité de Nominaciones. 
Hector G. Iracheta Presidente 



85 

RIO GRANDE VALLEY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION 
2024 Proposed Officers and Committees Directory 

 
• Highlighted names are nominations to fill positions for the year 2024 

 
STAFF 

Raul Morales, Church Donations Advancement Coordinator   (956) 624-3830 
raul@rgvbaptists.com 

 
2024 OFFICERS 

Moderator Kevin Harris FBC Pharr kharrisfwtx@gmail.com (956) 264-3813 
Vice-Moderator Pedro Peña IB Belen pedro4christ@hotmail.com  (956) 975-7991 
Clerk Blanca Marinero  IB Los Vecinos bma912@gmail.com (956) 530-9024 
Assistant Clerk Olivia Blanco IB Eliacim oflores986@yahoo.com (956) 661-3357 
Treasurer Carmen Gaytan Calvary McAllen c_gaytan45@yahoo.com (956) 460-9479 

 
2024 TRUSTEES 

Juan Alvarado   FBC Donna   juandalvarado@yahoo.com  (956) 893-1248 
Eugene Vaughan  Calvary, McAllen  gvtwulaw@gmail.com  (956) 648-4750 
Domingo Quintanilla   IB Natividad, McAllen whdivi@aol.com   (956) 458-2402 
Tommy Dillard  Baptist Temple, San B. tomnjandillard@sbcglobal.net (956) 245-9530 
Danny Smith   FBC Pharr   mattspharr@aol.com   (956) 975-7991 
 

MINISTRIES 
UFM RGVBA       Eva Torres  IB Calvario, Weslaco     saraisher10paco@gmail.com  (956)579-7520 
Alianza Pastores    Sergio Ramos       PIB, Las Milpas      pebenlasmilpas621@gmail.com (956)534-3778 
Compañerismo       Francisco Zarate  FBC, Misión             (956)566-2270 
Varonil          Pedro Ortega  Templo Nehemias, San J       
 

mailto:kharrisfwtx@gmail.com
mailto:pedro4christ@hotmail.com
mailto:juandalvarado@yahoo.com
mailto:gvtwulaw@gmail.com
mailto:whdivi@aol.com
mailto:tomnjandillard@sbcglobal.net
mailto:mattspharr@aol.com
mailto:saraisher10paco@gmail.com
mailto:pebenlasmilpas621@gmail.com


86 

2024 STANDING COMMITTEES DIRECTORY 
_________________________________________________________  

 
Budget & Finance Church Name Term Email Phone 
Jesus Palomo FBC Donna 2 jpalomo1@rgv.rr.com (956) 472-2053 
Danny Anderson FBC Rio Hondo 2 pastordannyanderson@outlook.com (956) 244-2530 
David Sanchez IB Southmost 2 jds12021968@gmail.com (956) 266-9855 
Noelia Garza IB Emmanuel Mc 2 noeliasalinas@att.net (956) 369-4434 
     

 
Constitution & by-Laws Church Name Term Email Phone 
Carol Schwartz PIB Santa Maria 2 carollschwartz331@gmail.com (956) 375-1730 
Pedro Peña IB Belen, Weslaco 4 pedro4christ@hotmail.com (956) 975-7991 
Othal Brand Jr. Calvary BC, McAllen 4 othalbrand@gmail.com (956) 793-0103 
Terri Garcia IB Alfa & Omega 1  (956) 451-4191 

 
Credentials & Petitioners Church Name Term Email Phone 
Fidencio Vasquez PIB La Joya 2 vasquezfidencio@gmail.com (956) 624-9195 
Gerardo Rodriguez PIB Donna 2  (956) 279-4575 
Alejandro Sanchez PIB Las Milpas 2  (956) 878-4693 
Joacim Ramos IB Jerusalen 3  (956) 648-7214 

 
Evangelism Church Name Term Email Phone 
Carmen Gaytan Calvary McAllen 2 c_gaytan45@yahoo.com (956) 460-9479 
Adan Anguiano IB Emmanuel Alamo 2 adananguiano76@gmail.com (956) 562-9007 
Luis Rodriguez FBC Weslaco 2 irodriguez@fbcweslaco.org (832) 540-5537 
Olber Robledo IB Horeb, Brownsville  olber.roblero@gmail.com (210) 364-6142 
Daniel Perez FBC Los Fresnos 1 dpdanielperez@yahoo.com (956) 307-7548 

 
Nominating Church Name Term Email Phone 
Lupita Peña IB Belen, Weslaco 2 herbalife1204@icloud.com (956) 650-4429 
Jorge Navarro PIB, La Feria 2 jorgel316nav@gmail.com (956) 961-2326 
Edna Ramos IB Jerusalenm, Pharr 1 ramcolegio@hotmail.com (956) 648-8770 
Hector Iracheta Templo Nehemias, SJ 1 templonehemiascc@outlook.com (956) 543-5779 

 
Personnel Church Name Term Email Phone 
Roberto Rodriguez PIB Harlingen 2 rbtrod77@gmail.com (956) 778-3257 
Connie Garza Calvary, McAllen 3   
Osvaldo S. Lerma IB Emanuel, Alton 1 olerma_1@hotmail.com (956) 579-4107 
Carlos Suarez IB Alfa y Omega, SJ 1 pastorsuarez1947!@gmail.com (956) 223-3562 
Joel Cavazos FBC Pharr 1 jcavazos20@hotmail.com (956) 457-9030 

 
Missions Church Name Term Email Phone 
Adan Rogriguez IB Jerusalen, Pharr 2 neftali1028@yahoo.com (956) 897-2018 
Andres Garcia PIB La Grulla 2 angaso45@yahoo.com.mx (956) 662-4313 
Leocadio Baltazar PIB Mexicana, BW 2 pacoballo@hotmail.com (956) 640-7468 
Louis Neutze IB Emanuel, Alton 2 ifneutze@gmail.com (956) 292-3070 

 

mailto:jpalomo1@rgv.rr.com
mailto:pastordannyanderson@outlook.com
mailto:jds12021968@gmail.com
mailto:noeliasalinas@att.net
mailto:carollschwartz331@gmail.com
mailto:pedro4christ@hotmail.com
mailto:othalbrand@gmail.com
mailto:vasquezfidencio@gmail.com
mailto:c_gaytan45@yahoo.com
mailto:adananguiano76@gmail.com
mailto:irodriguez@fbcweslaco.org
mailto:olber.roblero@gmail.com
mailto:dpdanielperez@yahoo.com
mailto:herbalife1204@icloud.com
mailto:jorgel316nav@gmail.com
mailto:ramcolegio@hotmail.com
mailto:templonehemiascc@outlook.com
mailto:rbtrod77@gmail.com
mailto:olerma_1@hotmail.com
mailto:pastorsuarez1947!@gmail.com
mailto:jcavazos20@hotmail.com
mailto:neftali1028@yahoo.com
mailto:angaso45@yahoo.com.mx
mailto:pacoballo@hotmail.com
mailto:ifneutze@gmail.com


87 

2023 Proposed Cons�tu�on & By-laws 

 



88 
 



89 

 



90  



91 

 



92 

 



93 

 



94 
 



95  



96 

 



97 

ADDENDUM A 
 

1963 STATEMENT 

I.  THE SCRIPTURES  
The Holy Bible was writen by men divinely inspired and is the record of God’s revela�on of Himself to man. It 
is a perfect treasure of divine instruc�on.  It has God for its author, salva�on for its end, and truth, without any 
mixture of error, for its mater.  It reveals the principles by which God judges us; and therefore is, and will 
remain to the end of the world, the true center of Chris�an union, and the supreme standard by which all 
human conduct, creeds, and religious opinions should be tried.  The criterion by which the Bible is to be 
interpreted is Jesus Christ. 
Ex. 24:4; Deut. 4:1-2; 17:19; Josh. 8:34; Psalms 19:7-10; 119:11, 89, 105, 140; Isa. 34:16; 40:8; Jer. 15:16; 36; Matt. 5:17-18; 22:29; 
Luke 21:33; 24:44-46; John 5:39; 16:13-15; 17:17; Acts 2:16ff.; 17:11; Rom. 15:4; 16:25-26; 2 Tim. 3:15-17; Heb. 1:1-2; 4:12; 1 Peter 
1:25; 2 Peter 1:19-21. 

II.  GOD  
There is one and only one living and true God.  He is an intelligent, spiritual, and personal Being, the Creator, 
Redeemer, Preserver, and Ruler of the universe.  God is infinite in holiness and all other perfec�ons.  To Him 
we owe the highest love, reverence, and obedience.  The eternal God reveals Himself to us as Father, Son, and 
Holy Spirit, with dis�nct personal atributes, but without division of nature, essence, or being. 

A. God the Father 
God as Father reigns with providen�al care over His universe, His creatures, and the flow of the stream of 
human history according to the purposes of His grace.  He is all powerful, all loving, and all wise.  God is Father 
in truth to those who become children of God through faith in Jesus Christ.  He is fatherly in His a�tude 
toward all men. 
Gen. 1:1; 2:7; Ex. 3:14; 6:2-3; 15:11ff.; 20:1ff.; Levit. 22:2; Deut. 6:4; 32:6; 1 Chron. 29:10; Psalms 19:1-3; Isa. 43:3; 15; 64:8; Jer. 
10:10; 17:13; Matt. 6:9ff.; 7:11; 23:9; 28:19; Mark 1:9-11; John 4:24; 5:26; 14:6-13; 17:1-8; Acts 1:7; Rom. 8:14-15; 1 Cor. 8:6; Gal. 
4:6; Eph. 4:6; Col. 1:15; 1 Tim. 1:17; Heb. 11:6; 12:9; 1 Peter 1:17; 1 John 5:7. 

B. God the Son 
Christ is the eternal Son of God.  In His incarna�on as Jesus Christ he was conceived of the Holy Spirit and born 
of the virgin Mary.  Jesus perfectly revealed and did the will of God, taking upon Himself the demands and 
necessi�es of human nature and iden�fying Himself completely with mankind yet without sin.  He honored the 
divine law by His personal obedience, and in His death on the cross He made provision for the redemp�on of 
men from sin.  He was raised from the dead with a glorified body and appeared to His disciples as the person 
who was with them before His crucifixion.  He ascended into heaven and is now exalted at the right hand of 
God where He is the One Mediator, partaking of the nature of God and of man, and in whose Person is 
effected the reconcilia�on between God and man.  He will return in power and glory to judge the world and to 
consummate His redemp�ve mission.  He now dwells in all believers as the living and ever present Lord. 
Gen. 18:1ff.; Psalms 2:7ff.; 110:1ff.; Isa. 7:14; 53; Matt. 1:18-23; 3:17; 8:29; 11:27; 14:33; 16:16, 27; 17:5; 27; 28:1-6, 19; Mark 1:1; 
3:11; Luke 1:35; 4:41; 22:70; 24:46; John 1:1-18, 29; 10:30, 38; 11:25-27; 12:44-50; 14:7-11; 16:15-16, 28; 17:1-5; 21-22; 20:1-20, 28; 
Acts 1:9; 2:22-24; 7:55-56; 9:4-5, 20; Rom. 1:3-4; 3:23-26; 5:6-21; 8:1-3, 34; 10:4; 1 Cor. 1:30; 2:2; 8:6; 15:1-8, 24-28; 2 Cor. 5:19-21; 
Gal. 4:4-5; Eph. 1:20; 3:11; 4:7-10; Phil. 2:5-11; Col. 1:13-22; 2:9; 1 Thess. 4:14-18; 1 Tim 2:5-6; 3:16; Titus 2:13-14; Heb. 1:1-3; 4:14-
15; 7:14-28; 9:12-15, 24-28; 12:2; 13:8; 1 Peter 2:21-25; 3:22; 1 John 1:7-9; 3:2; 4:14-15; 5:9; 2 John 7-9; Rev. 1:13-16; 5:9-14; 12:10-
11; 13:8; 19:16. 

C. God the Holy Spirit 
The Holy Spirit is the Spirit of God.  He inspired holy men of old to write the Scriptures.  Through illumina�on 
He enables men to understand truth.  He exalts Christ.  He convicts of sin, of righteousness and of judgment.  
He calls men to the Saviour, and effects regenera�on. He cul�vates Chris�an character, comforts believers, and 
bestows the spiritual gi�s by which they serve God though His church.  He seals the believer unto the day of 



98 

final redemp�on.  His presence in the Chris�an is the assurance of God to bring the believer into the fulness of 
the stature of Christ. He enlightens and empowers the believer and the church in worship, evangelism, and 
service. 
Gen. 1:2; Judg. 14:6; Job 26:13; Psalms 51:11; 139:7ff.; Isa. 61:1-3; Joel 2:28-32; Matt. 1:18; 3:16; 4:1; 12:28-32; 28:19; Mark 1:10, 
12; Luke 1:35; 4:1, 18-19; 11:13; 12;12; 24:49; John 4:24; 14:16-17, 26; 15:26; 16:7-14; Acts 1:8; 2:1-4, 38; 4:31; 5:3; 6:3; 7:55; 8:17, 
39; 10:44; 13:2; 15:28; 16:6; 19:1-6; Rom. 8:9-11, 14-16, 26-27; 1 Cor. 2:10-14; 3:16; 12:3-11; Gal. 4:6; Eph. 1:13-14; 4:30; 5:18; 1 
Thess. 5:19; 1 Tim. 3:16; 4:1; 2 Tim. 1:14; 3:16; Heb. 9:8, 14; 2 Peter 1:21; 1 John 4:13; 5:6-7; Rev. 1:10; 22:17. 

III.  MAN 
Man was created by  the special act of God, in His own image, and is the crowning work of His crea�on.  In the 
beginning man was innocent of sin and was endowed by his Creator with freedom of choice.  By his free choice 
man sinned against God and brought sin into the human race.  Through the tempta�on of Satan man 
transgressed the command of God, and fell from his original innocence; whereby his posterity inherit a nature 
and an environment inclined toward sin, and as soon as they are capable of moral ac�on become transgressors 
and are under condemna�on.  Only the grace of God can bring man into His holy fellowship and enable man to 
fulfil the crea�ve purpose of God.  The sacredness of human personality is evident in that God created man in 
His own image, and in that Christ died for man; therefore every man possesses dignity and is worthy of respect 
and Chris�an love.  
Gen. 1:26-30; 2:5, 7, 18-22; 3; 9:6; Psalms 1; 8:3-6; 32:1-5; 51:5; Isa. 6:5; Jer. 17:5; Matt. 16:26; Acts 17:26-31; Rom. 1:19-32; 3:10-18, 
23; 5:6, 12, 19; 6:6; 7:14-25; 8:14-18, 29; 1 Cor. 1:21-31; 15:19, 21-22; Eph. 2:1-22; Col. 1:21-22; 3:9-11. 

IV.  SALVATION 
Salva�on involves the redemp�on of the whole man, and is offered freely to all who accept Jesus Christ as Lord 
and Saviour, who by His own blood obtained eternal redemp�on for the believer.  In its broadest sense 
salva�on includes regenera�on, sanc�fica�on, and glorifica�on. 

Regenera�on, or the new birth, is a work of God’s grace whereby believers become new creatures in Christ 
Jesus.  It is a change of heart wrought by the Holy Spirit through convic�on of sin, to which the sinner responds 
in repentance toward God and faith in the Lord Jesus Christ. 

1. Repentance and faith are inseparable experiences of grace.  Repentance is a genuine turning from sin 
toward God.  Faith is the acceptance of Jesus Christ and commitment of the en�re personality to Him 
as Lord and Saviour.  Jus�fica�on is God’s gracious and full acquital upon principles of His 
righteousness of all sinners who repent and believe in Christ.  Jus�fica�on brings the believer into a 
rela�onship of peace and favor with God.  

2. Sanc�fica�on is the experience, beginning in regenera�on, by which the believer is set apart to God’s 
purposes, and is enabled to progress toward moral and spiritual perfec�on through the presence and 
power of the Holy Spirit dwelling in him.  Growth in grace should con�nue throughout the regenerate 
person’s life. 

3. Glorifica�on is the culmina�on of salva�on and is the final blessed and abiding state of the redeemed. 

Gen. 3:15; Ex. 3:14-17; 6:2-8; Matt. 1:21; 4:17; 16:21-26; 27:22-28:6; Luke 1:68-69; 2:28-32; John 1:11-14, 29; 3:3-21, 36; 5:24; 10:9, 
28-29; 15:1-6; 17:17; Acts 2:21; 4:12; 15:11; 16:30-31; 17:30-31; 20:32; Rom 1:16-18; 2:4; 3:23-25; 4:3ff.; 5:8-10; 6:1-23; 8:1-18, 29-
39; 10:9-10, 13; 13:11-14; 1 Cor. 1:18, 30; 6:19-20; 15:10; 2 Cor. 5:17-20; Gal. 2:20; 3:13; 5:22-25; 6:15; Eph. 1:7; 2:8-22; 4:11-16; Phil. 
2:12-13; Col. 1:9-22; 3:1ff.; 1 Thess. 5:23-24; 2 Tim. 1:12; Titus 2:11-14; Heb. 2:1-3; 5:8-9; 9:24-28; 11:1-12, 8, 14; James 2:14-26; I 
Peter 1:2-23; 1 John 1:6-2:11; Rev. 3:20; 21:1-22:5. 

V .  GOD’S PURPOSE OF GRACE 
Elec�on is the gracious purpose of God, according to which He regenerates, sanc�fies, and glorifies sinners.  It 
is consistent with the free agency of man, and comprehends all the means in connec�on with the end.  It is a 
glorious display of God’s sovereign goodness, and is infinitely wise, holy, and unchangeable.  It excludes 
boas�ng and promotes humility. 



99 

All true believers endure to the end.  Those whom God has accepted in Christ, and sanc�fied by His Spirit, will 
never fall away from the state of grace, but shall persevere to the end.  Believers may fall into sin through 
neglect and tempta�on, whereby they grieve the Spirit, impair their graces and comforts, bring reproach on 
the cause of Christ, and temporal judgments on themselves, yet they shall be kept by the power of God 
through faith unto salva�on. 
Gen. 12:1-3; Ex. 19:5-8; 1 Sam. 8:4-7, 19-22; Isa. 5:1-7; Jer. 31:31ff.; Matt. 16:18-19; 21:28-45; 24:22, 31; 25:34: Luke 1:68-79; 2:29-
32; 19:41-44; 24:44-48; John 1:12-14; 3:16; 5:24; 6:44-45, 65; 10:27-29; 15:16; 17:6, 12, 17-18; Acts 20:32; Rom. 5:9-10; 8:28-39; 
10:12-15; 11:5-7, 26-36; 1 Cor. 1:1-2; 15:24-28; Eph. 1:4-23; 2:1-10; 3:1-11; Col. 1:12-14; 2 Thess. 2:13-14; 2 Tim. 1:12; 2:10, 19; Heb. 
11:39-12:2; 1 Peter 1:2-5, 13; 2:4-10; 1 John 1:7-9; 2:19; 3:2. 

VI.  THE CHURCH 
A New Testament church of the Lord Jesus Christ is a local body of bap�zed believers who are associated by 
covenant in the faith and fellowship of the gospel, observing the two ordinances of Christ, commited to His 
teachings, exercising the gi�s, rights, and privileges invested in them by His Word, and seeking to extend the 
gospel to the ends of the earth. 

This church is an autonomous body, opera�ng through democra�c processes under the Lordship of Jesus 
Christ.  In such a congrega�on members are equally responsible.  Its Scriptural officers are pastors and 
deacons. 

The New Testament speaks also of the church as the body of Christ which includes all of the redeemed of all 
the ages. 
Matt. 16:15-19; 18:15-20; Acts 2:41-42, 47; 5:11-14; 6:3-6; 13:1-3; 14:23, 27; 15:1-30; 16:5; 20:28; Rom. 1:7; 1 Cor. 1:2; 3:16; 5:4-5; 
7:17; 9:13-14; 12; Eph. 1:22-23; 2:19-22; 3:8-11, 21; 5:22-32; Phil. 1:1; Col. 1:18; 1 Tim. 3:1-15; 4:14; 1 Peter 5:1-4; Rev. 2-3; 21:2-3. 

VII.  BAPTISM AND THE LORD’S SUPPER 
Chris�an bap�sm is the immersion of a believer in water in the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy 
Spirit.  It is an act of obedience symbolizing the believer’s faith in a crucified, buried, and risen Saviour, the 
believer’s death to sin, the burial of the old life, and the resurrec�on to walk in newness of life in Christ Jesus.  
It is a tes�mony to his faith in the final resurrec�on of the dead.  Being a church ordinance, it is prerequisite to 
the privileges of church membership and to the Lord’ Supper. 

The Lord’s Supper is a symbolic act of obedience whereby members of the church, through partaking of the 
bread and the fruit of the vine, memorialize the death of the Redeemer and an�cipate His second coming. 
Matt. 3:13-17; 26:26-30; 28:19-20; Mark 1:9-11; 14:22-26; Luke 3:21-22; 22:19-20; John 3:23; Acts 2:41-42; 8:35-39; 16:30-33; Acts 
20:7; Rom. 6:3-5; 1 Cor. 10:16, 21; 11:23-29; Col. 2:12. 

VIII.  THE LORD’S DAY 
The first day of the week is the Lord’s Day.  It is a Chris�an ins�tu�on for regular observance.  It 
commemorates the resurrec�on of Christ from the dead and should be employed in exercises of worship and 
spiritual devo�on, both public and private, and by refraining from worldly amusements, and res�ng from 
secular employments, work of necessity and mercy only being excepted. 
Ex. 20:8-11; Matt. 12:1-12; 28:1ff.; Mark 2:27-28; 16:1-7; Luke 24:1-3, 33-36; John 4:21-24; 20:1, 19-28; Acts 20:7; 1 Cor. 16:1-2; Col. 
2:16; 3:16; Rev. 1:10. 

IX.  THE KINGDOM 
The Kingdom of God includes both His general sovereignty over the universe and His par�cular kingship over 
men who willfully acknowledge Him as King.  Par�cularly the Kingdom is the realm of salva�on into which men 
enter by trus�ul, childlike commitment to Jesus Christ.  Chris�ans ought to pray and to labor that the Kingdom 
may come and God’s will be done on earth.  The full consumma�on of the Kingdom awaits the return of Jesus 
Christ and the end of this age. 
Gen. 1:1; Isa. 9:6-7; Jer. 23:5-6; Matt. 3:2; 4:8-10, 23; 12:25-28; 13:1-52; 25:31-46; 26:29; Mark 1:14-15; 9:1; Luke 4:43; 8:1; 9:2; 
12:31-32; 17:20-21; 23:42; John 3:3; 18:36; Acts 1:6-7; 17:22-31; Rom. 5:17; 8:19; 1 Cor. 15:24-28; Col. 1:13; Heb. 11:10, 16; 12:28; 1 
Peter 2:4-10; 4:13; Rev. 1:6, 9; 5:10; 11:15; 21:22. 



100 

X.  LAST THINGS 
God, in His own �me and in His own way, will bring the world to its appropriate end.  According to His promise, 
Jesus Christ will return personally and visibly in glory to the earth; the dead will be raised; and Christ will judge 
all men in righteousness.  The unrighteous will be consigned to Hell, the place of everlas�ng punishment.  The 
righteous in their resurrected and glorified bodies will receive their reward and will be dwell forever in Heaven 
with the Lord. 
Isa. 2:4; 11:9; Matt. 16:27; 18:8-9; 19:28; 24:27, 30, 36, 44; 25:31-46; 26:64; Mark 8:38; 9:43-48; Luke 12:40, 48; 16:19-26; 17:22-37; 
21:27-28; John 14:1-3; Acts 1:11; 17:31; Rom. 14:10; 1 Cor. 4:5; 15:24-28, 35-58; 2 Cor. 5:10; Phil. 3:20-21; Col. 1:5; 3:4; 1 Thess. 4:14-
18; 5:1ff.; 2 Thess. 1:7ff.; 2; 1 Tim. 6:14; 2; 2 Tim. 4:1, 8; Titus 2:13; Heb 9:27-28; James 5:8; 2 Peter 3:7ff.; 1 John 2:28; 3:2; Jude 14; 
Rev. 1:18; 3:11; 20:1-22:13. 

XI.  EVANGELISM AND MISSIONS 
It is the duty and privilege of every follower of Christ and of every church of the Lord Jesus Christ to endeavor 
to make disciples of all na�ons.  The new birth of man’s spirit by God’s Holy Spirit means the birth of love for 
others.  Missionary effort on the part of all rests thus upon a spiritual necessity of the regenerate life, and is 
expressly and repeatedly commanded in the teachings of Christ. It is the duty of every child of God to seek 
constantly to win the lost to Christ by personal effort and by all other methods in harmony with the gospel of 
Christ. 
Gen. 12:1-3; Ex. 19:5-6; Isa. 6:1-8; Matt. 9:37-38; 10:5-15; 13:18-30, 37-43; 16:19; 22:9-10; 24:14; 28:18-20; Luke 10:1-18; 24:46-53; 
John 14:11-12; 15:7-8, 16; 17:15; 20:21; Acts 1:8; 2; 8:26-40; 10:42-48; 13:2-3; Rom. 10:13-15; Eph. 3:1-11; 1 Thess. 1:8; 2 Tim. 4:5; 
Heb. 2:1-3; 11:39-12:2; 1 Peter 2:4-10; Rev. 22:17. 

XII.  EDUCATION 
The cause of educa�on in the Kingdom of Christ is co-ordinate with the causes of missions and general 
benevolence, and should receive along with these the liberal support of the churches.  An adequate system of 
Chris�an schools is necessary to a complete spiritual program for Christ’s people. 

In Chris�an educa�on there should be a proper balance between academic freedom and academic 
responsibility.  Freedom in any orderly rela�onship of human life is always limited and never absolute.  The 
freedom of a teacher in a Chris�an school, college, or seminary is limited by the pre-eminence of Jesus Christ, 
by the authorita�ve nature of the Scriptures, and by the dis�nct purpose for which the school exists. 
Deut. 4:1, 5, 9,14; 6:1-10; 31:12-13; Neh. 8:1-8; Job 28:28; Psalms 19:7ff.; 119:11; Prov. 3:13ff.; 4:1-10; 8:1-7, 11; 15:14; Eccl. 7:19; 
Matt. 5:2; 7:24ff.; 28:19-20; Luke 2:40; 1 Cor. 1:18-31; Eph. 4:11-16; Phil. 4:8; Col. 2:3, 8-9; 1 Tim. 1:3-7; 2 Tim. 2:15; 3:14-17; Heb. 
5:12-6:3; James 1:5; 3:17. 

XIII.  STEWARDSHIP 
God is the source of all blessings, temporal and spiritual; all that we have and are we owe to Him.  Chris�ans 
have a spiritual debtorship to the whole world, a holy trusteeship in the gospel, and a binding stewardship in 
their possessions.  They are therefore under obliga�on to serve Him with their �me, talents, and material 
possessions; and should recognize all these as entrusted to them to use for the glory of God and for helping 
others.  According to the Scriptures, Chris�ans should contribute of their means cheerfully, regularly, 
systema�cally, propor�onately, and liberally for the advancement of the Redeemer’s cause on earth.  
Gen. 14:20; Lev. 27:30-32; Deut. 8:18; Mal. 3:8-12; Matt. 6:1-4, 19-21; 19:21; 23:23; 25:14-29; Luke 12:16-21, 42; 16:1-13; Acts 2:44-
47; 5:1-11; 17:24-25; 20:35; Rom. 6:6-22; 12:1-2; 1 Cor. 4:1-2; 6:19-20; 12; 16:1-4; 2 Cor. 8-9; 12:15; Phil. 4:10-19; 1 Peter 1:18-19. 

XIV.  COOPERATION 
Christ’s people should, as occasion requires, organize such associa�ons and conven�ons as may best secure 
coopera�on for the great objects of the Kingdom of God.  Such organiza�ons have no authority over one 
another or over the churches.  They are voluntary and advisory bodies designed to elicit, combine, and direct 
the energies of our people in the most effec�ve manner.  Members of New Testament churches should co-
operate with one another in carrying forward the missionary, educa�onal, and benevolent ministries for the 
extension of Christ’s Kingdom.  Chris�an unity in the New Testament sense is spiritual harmony and voluntary 
co-opera�on for common ends by various groups of Christ’s people.  Co-opera�on is desirable between the 



101 

various Chris�an denomina�ons, when the end to be atained is itself jus�fied, and when such co-opera�on 
involves no viola�on of conscience or compromise of loyalty to Christ and His Word as revealed in the New 
Testament. 
Ex. 17:12; 18:17ff.; Judg. 7:21; Ezra 1:3-4; 2:68-69; 5:14-15; Neh. 4; 8:1-5; Matt. 10:5-15; 20:1-16; 22:1-10; 28:19-20; Mark 2:3; Luke 
10:1-ff.; Acts 1:13-14; 2:1ff.; 4:31-37; 13:2-3; 15:1-35; 1 Cor. 1:10-17; 3:5-15; 12; 2 Cor. 8-9; Gal. 1:6-10; Eph. 4:1-16; Phil. 1:15-18. 

XV.  THE CHRISTIAN AND THE SOCIAL ORDER 
Every Chris�an is under obliga�on to seek to make the will of Christ supreme in his own life and in human 
society.  Means and methods used for the improvement of society and the establishment of righteousness 
among men can be truly and permanently helpful only when they are rooted in the regenera�on of the 
individual by the saving grace of God in Christ Jesus.  The Chris�an should oppose in the spirit of Christ every 
form of greed, selfishness, and vice.  He should work to provide for the orphaned, the needy, the aged, the 
helpless, and the sick.  Every Chris�an should seek to bring industry, government, and society as a whole under 
the sway of the principles of righteousness, truth, and brotherly love.  In order to promote these ends 
Chris�ans should be ready to work with all men of good will in any good cause, always being careful to act in 
the spirit of love without compromising their loyalty to Christ and His truth. 
Ex. 20:3-17; Lev. 6:2-5; Deut. 10:12; 27:17; Psalms 101:5; Mic. 6:8; Zech. 8:16; Matt. 5:13-16, 43-48; 22:36-40; 25:35; Mark 1:29-34; 
2:3ff.; 10:21; Luke 4:18-21; 10:27-37; 20:25; John 15:12; 17:15; Rom. 12-14; 1 Cor. 5:9-10; 6:1-7; 7:20-24; 10:23-11:1; Gal. 3:26-28; 
Eph. 6:5-9; Col. 3:12-17; 1 Thess. 3:12; Philemon; James 1:27; 2:8. 

XVI.  PEACE AND WAR 
It is the duty of Chris�ans to seek peace with all men on principles of righteousness.  In accordance with the 
spirit and teachings of Christ they should do all in their power to put an end to war. 

The true remedy for the war spirit is the gospel of our Lord.  The supreme need of the world is the acceptance 
of His teachings in all the affairs of men and na�ons, and the prac�cal applica�on of His law of love. 
Isa. 2:4; Matt. 5:9, 38-48; 6:33; 26:52; Luke 22:36, 38; Rom. 12:18-19; 13:1-7; 14:19; Heb. 12:14; James 4:1-2. 

XVII.  RELIGIOUS LIBERTY 
God alone is Lord of the conscience, and He has le� it free from the doctrines and commandments of men 
which are contrary to His Word or not contained in it.  Church and state should be separate.  The state owes to 
every church protec�on and full freedom in the pursuit of its spiritual ends.  In providing for such freedom no 
ecclesias�cal group or denomina�on should be favored by the state more than others.  Civil government being 
ordained of God, it is the duty of Chris�ans to render loyal obedience thereto in all things not contrary to the 
revealed will of God.  The church should not resort to the civil power to carry on its work.  The gospel of Christ 
contemplates spiritual means alone for the pursuit of its ends.  The state has no right to impose penal�es for 
religious opinions of any kind.  The state has no right to impose taxes for the support of any form of religion.  A 
free church in a free state is the Chris�an ideal, and this implies the right of free and unhindered access to God 
on the part of all men, and the right to form and propagate opinions in the sphere of religion without 
interference by the civil power. 
Gen. 1:27; 2:7; Matt. 6:6-7, 24; 16:26; 22:21; John 8:36; Acts 4:19-20; Rom. 6:1-2; 13:1-7; Gal. 5:1, 13; Phil. 3:20; 1 Tim. 2:1-2; James 
4:12; 1 Peter 2:12-17; 3:11-17; 4:12-19. 



102 

ADDENDUM B 
1998 AMENDMENT TO THE BAPTIST FAITH AND MESSAGE 

XVIII. The Family 
God has ordained the family as the founda�onal ins�tu�on of human society. It is composed of persons 
related to one another by marriage, blood, or adop�on. 

Marriage is the uni�ng of one man and one woman in covenant commitment for a life�me. It is God's unique 
gi� to reveal the union between Christ and His church and to provide for the man and the woman in marriage 
the framework for in�mate companionship, the channel of sexual expression according to biblical standards, 
and the means for procrea�on of the human race. 

The husband and wife are of equal worth before God, since both are created in God's image. The marriage 
rela�onship models the way God relates to His people. A husband is to love his wife as Christ loved the church. 
He has the God-given responsibility to provide for, to protect, and to lead his family. A wife is to submit herself 
graciously to the servant leadership of her husband even as the church willingly submits to the headship of 
Christ. She, being in the image of God as is her husband and thus equal to him, has the God-given 
responsibility to respect her husband and to serve as his helper in managing the household and nurturing the 
next genera�on. 

Children, from the moment of concep�on, are a blessing and heritage from the Lord. Parents are to 
demonstrate to their children God's patern for marriage. Parents are to teach their children spiritual and 
moral values and to lead them, through consistent lifestyle example and loving discipline, to make choices 
based on biblical truth. Children are to honor and obey their parents. 
Genesis 1:26-28; 2:15-25; 3:1-20; Exodus 20:12; Deuteronomy 6:4-9; Joshua 24:15; 1 Samuel 1:26-28; Psalms 51:5; 78:1-8; 127; 128; 
139:13-16; Proverbs 1:8; 5:15-20; 6:20-22; 12:4; 13:24; 14:1; 17:6; 18:22; 22:6,15; 23:13-14; 24:3; 29:15,17; 31:10-31; Ecclesiastes 
4:9-12; 9:9; Malachi 2:14-16; Matthew 5:31-32; 18:2-5; 19:3-9; Mark 10:6-12; Romans 1:18-32; 1 Corinthians 7:1-16; Ephesians 5:21-
33; 6:1-4; Colossians 3:18-21; 1 Timothy 5:8,14; 2 Timothy 1:3-5; Titus 2:3-5; Hebrews 13:4; 1 Peter 3:1-7. 

 

 

 



103 

Estatutos y Reglamentos Propuestos para 2023

 



104 

 



105 

 



106 

 



107 

 



108 

 



109 

 



110 

 



111 

 



112 

 



113 

ADDENDUM A 
La Fe y Mensaje Bau�sta 
DECLARACION DE 1963 

I. LAS ESCRITURAS  
La Santa Biblia fue escrita por hombres divinamente inspirados, y es el registro de la revelación que Dios hace 
de sí mismo al hombre. Es un tesoro perfecto de instrucción divina. Su autor es Dios, su fin es la salvación, y su 
esencia es la verdad, sin ninguna mezcla de error. Revela los principios por los cuales Dios nos juzga; y por 
consiguiente es y será hasta el fin del mundo el verdadero centro de unión cris�ana, y la norma suprema por la 
cual debe examinarse toda conducta humana, credos y opiniones religiosas. El criterio por el cual se ha de 
interpretar la Biblia es Jesucristo.  
Ex. 24:4; Dt. 4:1-2; 17:19; Jos. 8:34; Sal. 19:7-10; 119:11, 89, 105, 140; Is. 34:16; 40:8; Jer. 15:16; 36; Mt. 5:17-18; 22:29; Lc. 21:33; 
24:44-46; Jn. 5:39; 16:13-15; 17:17; Hch. 2:16 ss.; 17:11; Ro. 15:4; 16:25-26; 2 Tim. 3:15-17; Heb. 1:1-2; 4:12; 1 P. 1:25; 2 P. 1:1921  

II. DIOS  
Hay un y sólo un Dios vivo y verdadero. Es un Ser inteligente, espiritual y personal, el Creador, Redentor, 
Preservador y Gobernante del universo. Dios es infinito en su san�dad y en todas las demás perfecciones. A Él 
le debemos el más elevado amor, reverencia y obediencia. El eterno Dios se nos revela a sí mismo como Padre, 
Hijo y Espíritu Santo, con atributos personales dis�ntos, pero sin división de naturaleza, esencia o ser.  

A. Dios el Padre  
Dios como Padre reina con cuidado providencial sobre su universo, sus criaturas y el flujo de la corriente de la 
historia humana de acuerdo a los propósitos de su gracia. Es todopoderoso, todo amor y todo sabio. Dios es 
Padre en verdad de los que llegan a ser hijos de Dios mediante la fe en Jesucristo. Él es paternal en su ac�tud 
hacia todos los hombres.  
Gn. 1:1; 2:7; Ex. 3:14; 6:2-3; 15:11 ss.; 20:1 ss.; Lv. 22:2; Dt. 6:4; 32:6; 1 Cr. 29:10; Sal. 19:1-3; Is. 43:3, 15; 64:8; Jer. 10:10; 17:13; Mt. 
6:9 ss.; 7:11; 23:9; 28:19; Mc. 1:9-11; Jn. 4:24; 5:26; 14:6-13; 17:1-8; Hch. 1:7; Ro. 8:14-15; 1 Cor. 8:6; Gl. 4:6; Ef. 4:6; Col. 1:15; 1 Tim. 
1:17; Heb. 11:6; 12:9; 1 P. 1:17; 1 Jn. 5:7  

B. Dios el Hijo  
Cristo es el Hijo eterno de Dios. En su encarnación como Jesucristo fue concebido del Espíritu Santo y nació de 
la virgen María. Jesús reveló y cumplió perfectamente la voluntad de Dios, tomando sobre sí mismo las 
demandas y necesidades de la naturaleza humana, e iden�ficándose por completo con la humanidad y, sin 
embargo, sin pecado. Honró la ley divina mediante su obediencia personal, y en su muerte en la cruz proveyó 
la redención del hombre de sus pecados. Resucitó de entre los muertos con un cuerpo glorificado y se apareció 
a sus discípulos como la misma persona que estaba con ellos antes de su crucifixión. Ascendió al cielo y ahora 
está exaltado a la diestra de Dios, en donde es el único Mediador, par�cipando de la naturaleza de Dios y del 
hombre, y en cuya Persona se efectúa la reconciliación entre Dios y el hombre. Retornará en poder y gloria 
para juzgar al mundo y consumar su misión redentora. Ahora mora en todos los creyentes como el Señor vivo y 
siempre presente.  
Gn. 18:1 ss.; Sal. 2:7 ss.; 110:1 ss.; Is. 7:14; 53; Mt. 1:18-23; 3:17; 8:29; 11:27; 14:33; 16:16, 27; 17:5; 27; 28:1-
6, 19; Mc. 1:1; 3:11; Lc. 1:35; 4:41; 22:70; 24:46; Jn. 1:1-18, 29; 10:30, 38; 11:25-27; 12:44-50; 14:7-11; 16:15-
16, 28; 17:1-5, 21-22; 20:1-20, 28; Hch. 1:9; 2:22-24; 7:55-56; 9:4-5, 20; Ro. 1:3-4; 3:23-26; 5:6-21; 8:1-3, 34; 
10:4; 1 Cor. 1:30; 2:2; 8:6; 15:1-8, 24-28; 2 Cor. 5:19-21; Gl. 4:4-5; Ef. 1:20; 3:11; 4:7-10; Flp. 2:5-11; Col. 1:13-
22; 2:9; 1 Ts. 4:14-18; 1 Tim. 2:5-6; 3:16; Tit. 2:13- 14; Heb. 1:1-3; 4:14-15; 7:14-28; 9:12-15, 24-28; 12:2; 13:8; 
1 P. 2:21-25; 3:22; 1 Jn. 1:7-9; 3:2; 4:14-15; 5:9; 2 Jn. 7-9; Ap. 1:13-16; 5:9-14; 12:10-11; 13:8; 19:16  

C. Dios el Espíritu Santo  
El Espíritu Santo es el Espíritu de Dios. Inspiró a los santos hombres de la an�güedad para que escribieran las 
Escrituras. Mediante la iluminación capacita a los hombres para que en�endan la verdad. Exalta a Cristo; 



114 

convence de pecado, de jus�cia y de juicio; llama a los hombres al Salvador, y efectúa la regeneración. Cul�va 
el carácter cris�ano, consuela a los creyentes, y les concede dones espirituales con los cuales ellos sirven a 
Dios mediante su iglesia. Sella al creyente para el día de la redención final. Su presencia en el cris�ano es la 
seguridad de que Dios llevará al creyente a la plenitud de la estatura de Cristo. Ilumina y da poder al creyente y 
a la iglesia en la adoración, la evangelización y el servicio.  
Gn. 1:2; Jue. 14:6; Job 26:13; Sal. 1:11; 139:7 ss.; Is. 61:1-3; Jl. 2:28-32; Mt. 1:18; 3:16; 4:1; 12:28-32; 28:19; Mc. 1:10, 12; Lc. 1:35; 
4:1, 18-19; 11:13; 12:12; 24:49; Jn. 4:24; 14:16-17, 26; 15:26; 16:7-14; Hch. 1:8; 2:1-4, 38; 4:31; 5:3; 6:3; 7:55; 8:17, 39; 10:44; 13:2; 
15:28; 16:6; 19:1-6; Ro. 8:9-11, 14-16, 26-27; 1 Cor. 2:10-14; 3:16; 12:3-11; Gl. 4:6; Ef. 1:13-14; 4:30; 5:18; 1 Ts. 5:19; 1 Tim. 3:16; 4:1; 
2 Tim. 1:14; 3:16; Heb. 9:8, 14; 2 P. 1:21; 1 Jn. 4:13; 5:6-7; Ap. 1:10; 22:17  

III. EL HOMBRE  
El hombre fue creado por un acto especial de Dios, a su imagen, y es la obra corona de su creación. En el 
principio el hombre era inocente del pecado y su Creador le otorgó libre albedrío. Por decisión propia el 
hombre pecó contra Dios e introdujo el pecado en la raza humana. Mediante la tentación de Satanás el 
hombre transgredió el mandamiento de Dios, y cayó de su inocencia original; por ello su posteridad heredó 
una naturaleza y in medio ambiente inclinado a pecar, y tan pronto como esa posteridad es capaz de una 
acción moral se vuelven transgresores y quedan bajo condenación. Solo la gracia de Dios puede llevar al 
hombre a su santa comunión, y capacitarle para que cumpla el propósito crea�vo de Dios. La san�dad de la 
personalidad humana se evidencia en que Dios creó al hombre a su imagen, y en que Cristo murió por el 
hombre; por consiguiente todo hombre posee dignidad y es digno de respeto y amor cris�ano.  
Gn. 1:26-30; 2:5, 7, 18-22; 3; 9:6; Sal. 1; 8:3-6; 32:1-5; 51:5; Is. 6:5; Jer. 17:5; Mt. 16:26; Hch. 17:26-31; Ro. 1:19-32; 3:10-18, 23; 5:6, 
12, 19; 6:6; 7:14-25; 8:14-18, 29; 1 Cor. 1:21-31; 15:19, 21-22; Ef. 2:1-22; Col. 1:21-22; 3:9-11  

IV. SALVACION  
La salvación incluye la redención del hombre completo, y se ofrece libremente a todos los que aceptan a 
Jesucristo como Señor y Salvador, quien por su propia sangre obtuvo la redención eterna para el creyente. En 
su sen�do más amplio la salvación incluye la regeneración, la san�ficación y la glorificación.  

1. La regeneración, o nuevo nacimiento, es obra de la gracia de Dios por la cual los creyentes llegan a 
ser nuevas criaturas en Cristo Jesús. Es un cambio de  corazón producido por el Espíritu Santo 
mediante la convicción de pecado, a lo cual el pecador responde en arrepen�miento hacia Dios y fe 
en el Señor Jesucristo. El arrepen�miento y la fe son experiencias inseparables de gracia. El 
arrepen�miento es una conversión genuina del pecado hacia Dios. La fe es la aceptación de 
Jesucristo y la entrega de la personalidad entera a Él como Señor y Salvador. La jus�ficación es la 
absolución plena que otorga la gracia de Dios basada en principios de su jus�cia, de todos los 
pecadores que se arrepienten y creen en Cristo. La jus�ficación pone al creyente en una relación de 
paz y favor con Dios.  

2. La san�ficación es la experiencia que empieza en la regeneración, por la cual el creyente es 
apartado para los propósitos de Dios, y capacitado para progresar hacia la perfección moral y 
espiritual mediante la presencia y el poder del Espíritu Santo que mora en él. El crecimiento en la 
gracia debe con�nuar toda la vida de la persona regenerada  

3. La glorificación es la culminación de la salvación y es el estado final y bendito de los redimidos.  

Gn. 3:15; Ex. 3:14-17; 6:2-8; Mt. 1:21; 4:17; 16:21-26; 27:22 a 28:6; Lc. 1:68-69; 2:28-32; Jn. 1:11-14, 29; 3:3-21, 36; 5:24; 10:9, 28-
29; 15:1-6; 17:17; Hch. 2:21; 4:12; 15:11; 16:30-31; 17:30-31; 20:32; Ro. 1:16-18; 2:4; 3:23-25; 4:3 ss.; 5:8-10; 6:1-23; 8:1-18, 29-39; 
10:9-10, 13; 13:11-14; 1 Cor. 1:18, 30; 6:19-20; 15:10; 2 Cor. 5:17-20; Gl. 2:20; 3:13; 5:22-25; 6:15; Ef. 1:7; 2:8-22; 4:11-16; Flp. 2:12-
13; Col. 1:9-22; 3:1 ss.; 1 Ts. 5:23-24; 2 Tim. 1:12; Tit. 2:11-14; Heb. 2:1-3; 5:8-9; 9:24-28; 11:1 to 12, 8, 14; Stg. 2:14-26; 1 P. 1:2-23; 1 
Jn. 1:6 a 2:11; Ap. 3:20; 21:1 a 22:5  

V. EL PROPÓSITO DIVINO DE GRACIA  
La elección es el propósito de la gracia de Dios, por el cual Él regenera, san�fica y glorifica a los pecadores. Es 
consistente con el libre albedrío del hombre, e incluye todos los medios que están en armonía con ese fin. Es 



115 

una manifestación gloriosa de la bondad soberana de Dios, y es infinitamente sabia, santa e inmutable. Excluye 
la jactancia y promueve la humildad.  

Todos los verdaderos creyentes perseverarán hasta el fin. Aquellos a quienes Dios ha aceptado en Cristo, y ha 
san�ficado por su Espíritu, jamás caerán del estado de la gracia, sino que perseverarán hasta el fin. Los 
creyentes pueden caer en pecado por negligencia o tentación, con lo cual entristecen al Espíritu, menoscaban 
sus virtudes y consuelo, acarrean reproche a la causa de Cristo y juicios temporales sobre sí mismos, sin 
embargo serán preservados por el poder de Dios mediante la fe para salvación.  
Gn. 12:1-3; Ex. 19:5-8; 1 S. 8:4-7, 19-22; Is. 5:1-7; Jer. 31:31 ss.; Mt. 16:18-19; 21:28-45; 24:22, 31; 25:34; Lc. 1:68-79; 2:29-32; 19:41-
44; 24:44-48; Jn. 1:12-14; 3:16; 5:24; 6:44-45, 65; 10:27-29; 15:16; 17:6, 12, 17-18; Hch. 20:32; Ro. 5:9-10; 8:28-39; 10:12-15; 11:5-7, 
26-36; 1 Cor. 1:1-2; 15:24-28; Ef. 1:4-23; 2:1-10; 3:1-11; Col. 1:12-14; 2 Ts. 2:13-14; 2 Tim. 1:12; 2:10, 19; Heb. 11:39-12:2; 1 P. 1:2-5, 
13; 2:4-10; 1 Jn. 1:7-9; 2:19; 3:2  

VI. LA IGLESIA  
Una iglesia neo-testamentaria del Señor Jesucristo es un cuerpo local de creyentes bau�zados, que se asocian 
mediante un pacto en la fe y  en la comunión del evangelio, que observan las dos ordenanzas de Cristo, se 
someten a enseñanzas, ejercen los dones, derechos y privilegios inves�dos en ellos por Su Palabra, y procuran 
extender el evangelio hasta los fines de la �erra.  

Esta iglesia es un cuerpo autónomo, que opera mediante procesos democrá�cos bajo el señorío de Jesucristo. 
En tal congregación los miembros son responsables igualmente. Sus oficiales bíblicos son pastores y diáconos.  

El Nuevo Testamento habla también de la iglesia como el cuerpo de Cristo, que incluye a todos los redimidos 
de todas las edades.  
Mt. 16:15-19; 18:15-20; Hch. 2:41-42, 47; 5:11-14; 6:3-6; 13:1-3; 14:23, 27; 15:1-30; 16:5; 20:28; Ro. 1:7; 1 Cor. 1:2; 3:16; 5:4-5; 7:17; 
9:13-14; 12; Ef. 1:22-23; 2:19-22; 3:8-11, 21; 5:22-32; Flp. 1:1; Col. 1:18; 1 Tim. 3:1-15; 4:14; 1 P. 5:1-4; Ap. 2-3; 21:2-3  

VII. EL BAUTISMOY LA CENA DEL SEÑOR  
El bau�smo cris�ano es la inmersión de un creyente en agua en el nombre del Padre, y del Hijo y del Espíritu 
Santo. Es un acto de obediencia, que simboliza la fe del creyente en un Salvador crucificado, sepultado y 
resucitado, la muerte del creyente al pecado, la sepultura de la vida vieja, y la resurrección para andar en una 
vida nueva en Cristo Jesús. Es un tes�monio de su fe en la resurrección final de los muertos. Siendo una 
ordenanza de la iglesia, es requisito previo para los privilegios de membresía en la iglesia y para la Cena del 
Señor.  

La Cena del Señor es un acto simbólico de obediencia por el cual los miembros de la iglesia, al par�cipar del 
pan y del fruto de la vid, rememoran la muerte del Redentor y anuncian su segunda venida.  
Mt. 3:13-17; 26:26-30; 28:19-20; Mc. 1:9-11; 14:22-26; Lc. 3:21-22; 22:19-20; Jn. 3:23; Hch. 2:41-42; 8:35-39; 16:30-33; Hch. 20:7; 
Ro. 6:3-5; 1 Cor. 10:16, 21; 11:23-29; Col. 2:12  

VIII. EL DIA DEL SEÑOR  
El primer día de la semana es el Día del Señor. Es una ins�tución cris�ana para observarse regularmente. 
Conmemora la resurrección de Cristo de entre los muertos y se lo debe emplear en el ejercicio de la adoración 
y devoción espiritual, tanto pública como privada, absteniéndose de las diversiones mundanales, y 
descansando del empleo secular, esperándose que se haga solamente el trabajo indispensable y de 
misericordia.  
Ex. 20:8-11; Mt. 12:1-12; 28:1 ss.; Mc. 2:27-28; 16:1-7; Lc. 24:1-3, 33-36; Jn. 4:21-24; 20:1, 19-28; Hch. 20:7; 1 Cor. 16:1-2; Col. 2:16; 
3:16; Ap. 1:10   

IX. EL REINO  

El reino de Dios incluye tanto su soberanía general sobre el universo como su señorío par�cular sobre los 
hombres que voluntariamente le reconocen como Rey. Par�cularmente el reino es el ámbito de salvación al 
cual los hombres entran mediante su entrega a Jesucristo, mediante una confianza como niños. Los cris�anos 



116 

deben orar y trabajar para que venga el reino y la voluntad de Dios sea hecha en la �erra. La consumación 
completa del reino espera el regreso de Jesucristo y el fin de esta edad.  
  

Gn. 1:1; Is. 9:6-7; Jer. 23:5-6; Mt. 3:2; 4:8-10, 23; 12:25-28; 13:1-52; 25:31-46; 26:29; Mc. 1:14-15; 9:1; Lc. 4:43; 8:1; 9:2; 12:31-32; 
17:20-21; 23:42; Jn. 3:3; 18:36; Hch. 1:6-7; 17:22-31; Ro. 5:17; 8:19; 1 Cor. 15:24-28; Col. 1:13; Heb. 11:10, 16; 12:28; 1 P. 2:4-10; 
4:13; Ap. 1:6, 9; 5:10; 11:15; 21:22  

X. LAS ULTIMAS COSAS  
Dios, a su �empo y a su manera, llevará al mundo a su fin apropiado. De acuerdo a su promesa, Jesucristo 
regresará a la �erra personal y visiblemente, en gloria; los muertos resucitarán, y Cristo juzgará en jus�cia a 
todos los hombres. Los injustos serán consignados al infierno, que es el lugar de cas�go eterno. Los justos, en 
sus cuerpos resucitados y glorificados recibirán su recompensa y morarán para siempre en el cielo con el 
Señor. 
Is. 2:4; 11:9; Mt. 16:27; 18:8-9; 19:28; 24:27, 30, 36, 44; 25:31-46; 26:64; Mc. 8:38; 9:43-48; Lc. 12:40, 48; 16:19-26; 17:22-37; 21:27-
28; Jn. 14:1-3; Hch. 1:11; 17:31; Ro. 14:10; 1 Cor. 4:5; 15:24-28, 35-58; 2 Cor. 5:10; Flp. 3:20-21; Col. 1:5; 3:4; 1 Ts. 4:14-18; 5:1 ss.; 2 
Ts. 1:7 ss.; 2; 1 Tim. 6:14; 2 Tim. 4:1, 8; Tit. 2:13; Heb. 9:27-28; Stg. 5:8; 2 P. 3:7 ss.; 1 Jn. 2:28; 3:2; Jud. 14; Ap. 1:18; 3:11; 20:1 a 
22:13  

XI. EVANGELIZACIONY MISIONES  
Es deber y privilegio de todo seguidor de Cristo y de toda iglesia del Señor Jesucristo esforzarse por hacer 
discípulos a todas las naciones. El nuevo nacimiento del espíritu del hombre por el Espíritu de Dios incluye el 
nacimiento del amor por otros. El esfuerzo misionero de parte de todos descansa, así, en una necesidad 
espiritual de la vida regenerada; y expresa y repe�damente se lo ordena en las enseñanzas de Cristo. Es deber 
de todo hijo de Dios procurar constantemente ganar para Cristo a los perdidos, mediante el esfuerzo personal 
y por todo otro método en armonía con el evangelio de Cristo.  
Gn. 12:1-3; Ex. 19:5-6; Is. 6:1-8; Mt. 9:37-38; 10:5-15; 13:18-30, 37-43; 16:19; 22:9-10; 24:14; 28:18-20; Lc. 10:1-18; 24:46-53; Jn. 
14:11-12; 15:7-8, 16; 17:15; 20:21; Hch. 1:8; 2; 8:26-40; 10:42-48; 13:2-3; Ro. 10:13-15; Ef. 3:1-11; 1 Ts. 1:8; 2 Tim. 4:5; Heb. 2:1-3; 
11:39 to 12:2; 1 P. 2:4-10; Ap. 22:17  

XII. EDUCACION  
La causa de la educación en el reino de Cristo está coordinada con las causas de misiones y beneficencia en 
general, y junto con éstas debe recibir el respaldo liberal de parte de las iglesias. Un sistema adecuado de 
escuelas cris�anas es necesario para un programa espiritual completo para el pueblo de Cristo.  

En la educación cris�ana debe haber un equilibrio apropiado entre la libertad académica y la responsabilidad 
académica. La libertad, en cualquier relación ordenada de la vida humana, siempre es limitada y nunca es 
absoluta. La libertad del maestro en una escuela, colegio, universidad o seminario cris�anos, está limitada por 
la preeminencia de Jesucristo, por la naturaleza autorita�va de las Escrituras, y por el propósito dis�nto por el 
cual la escuela existe.  
Dt. 4:1, 5, 9,14; 6:1-10; 31:12-13; Neh. 8:1-8; Job 28:28; Sal. 19:7 ss.; 119:11; Pr. 3:13 ss.; 4:1-10; 8:1-7, 11; 15:14; Ec. 7:19; Mt. 5:2; 
7:24 ss.; 28:19-20; Lc. 2:40; 1 Cor. 1:18-31; Ef. 4:11-16; Flp. 4:8; Col. 2:3, 8-9; 1 Tim. 1:3-7; 2 Tim. 2:15; 3:14-17; Heb. 5:12 to 6:3; Stg. 
1:5; 3:17  

XIII. MAYORDOMIA  

Dios es la fuente de toda bendición, temporal y espiritual; todo lo que tenemos y somos se lo debemos a Él. 
Los cris�anos �enen una deuda espiritual con el mundo entero, un depósito santo en el evangelio, y una 
mayordomía obligatoria de sus posesiones. Están, por consiguiente, bajo obligación de servir a Dios con su 
�empo, talentos, y posesiones materiales; y deben reconocer que todo esto les ha sido confiado para que lo 
usen para la gloria de Dios y para ayudar a otros. De acuerdo con las Escrituras, los cris�anos deben contribuir 
de sus medios alegre, regular, sistemá�ca, proporcional y generosamente para el avance de la causa del 
Redentor sobre la �erra.  



117 

Gn. 14:20; Lv. 27:30-32; Dt. 8:18; Mal. 3:8-12; Mt. 6:1-4, 19-21; 19:21; 23:23; 25:14-29; Lc. 12:16-21, 42; 16:1-13; Hch. 2:44-47; 5:1-
11; 17:24-25; 20:35; Ro. 6:6-22; 12:1-2; 1 Cor. 4:1-2; 6:19-20; 12; 16:1-4; 2 Cor. 8-9; 12:15; Flp. 4:10-19; 1 P. 1:18-19  

 

 

XIV. COOPERACION  
El pueblo de Cristo debe, según la ocasión lo requiera, organizar asociaciones y convenciones que sean 
convenientes para asegurar la mejor cooperación para los grandes obje�vos del reino de Dios. Ninguna de 
tales organizaciones �ene autoridad alguna sobre ninguna otra ni sobre las iglesias. Son cuerpos voluntarios y 
que sirven para asesorar, y están diseñados para descubrir, combinar y dirigir las energías de nuestro pueblo de 
la manera más eficaz. Los miembros de las iglesias neo-testamentarias deben cooperar unos con otros para 
fomentar los ministerios misioneros, educa�vos y de benevolencia para la extensión del reino de Cristo. La 
unidad cris�ana en el sen�do del Nuevo Testamento consiste en la armonía espiritual y cooperación voluntaria 
para lograr los fines comunes de parte de varios grupos del pueblo de Cristo. La cooperación es deseable entre 
las diferentes denominaciones cris�anas, cuando el fin a conseguirse se jus�fica, y cuando tal cooperación no 
incluye ninguna violación de la conciencia ni componenda en cuanto a la lealtad a Cristo y su Palabra según se 
revela en el Nuevo Testamento.  
Ex. 17:12; 18:17 ss.; Jue. 7:21; Esd, 1:3-4; 2:68-69; 5:14-15; Neh. 4; 8:1-5; Mt. 10:5-15; 20:1-16; 22:1-10; 28:19-20; Mc. 2:3; Lc. 10:1 
ss.; Hch. 1:13-14; 2:1 ss.; 4:31-37; 13:2-3; 15:1-35; 1 Cor. 1:10-17; 3:5-15; 12; 2 Cor. 8-9; Gl. 1:6-10; Ef. 4:1-16; Flp. 1:15-18  

XV. EL CRISTIANOY EL ORDEN SOCIAL  
Todo cris�ano está bajo la obligación de procurar hacer suprema la voluntad de Dios en su propia vida y en la 
sociedad humana. Los medios y métodos empleados para mejorar la sociedad y para el establecimiento de la 
jus�cia entre los hombres pueden ser verdadera y permanentemente ú�les solo cuando �enen sus raíces en 
en la regeneración del individuo mediante la gracia salvadora de Dios en Cristo Jesús. El cris�ano debe 
oponerse, en el Espíritu de Cristo, a toda forma de codicia, egoísmo y vicio. Debe trabajar para cuidar de los 
huérfanos, los necesitados, los ancianos, los indefenso y los enfermos. Debe procurar hacer que la industria, el 
gobierno y la sociedad como un todo estén bajo el predominio de los principios de jus�cia, verdad y amor 
fraternal. Para promover estos fines los cris�anos deben estar listos para trabajar con todos los hombres de 
buena voluntad en cualquier causa buena, siempre teniendo cuidado de actuar en el espíritu de amor sin 
comprometer su lealtad a Cristo y a su verdad.  
Ex. 20:3-17; Lv. 6:2-5; Dt. 10:12; 27:17; Sal. 101:5; Miq. 6:8; Zac. 8:16; Mt. 5:13-16, 43-48; 22:36-40; 25:35; Mc. 1:29-34; 2:3 ss.; 
10:21; Lc. 4:18-21; 10:27-37; 20:25; Jn. 15:12; 17:15; Ro. 12-14; 1 Cor. 5:9-10; 6:1-7; 7:20-24; 10:23 a 11:1; Gl. 3:26-28; Ef. 6:5-9; Col. 
3:12-17; 1 Ts. 3:12; Flm.; Stg. 1:27; 2:8  

XVI. PAZ Y GUERRA  
Es deber de los cris�anos procurar la paz con todos los hombres basada en principios de jus�cia. En 
concordancia con el espíritu y enseñanzas de Cristo deben hacer todo lo esté de su parte para poner fin a la 
guerra.  

El verdadero remedio para acabar con el espíritu de guerra es el evangelio de nuestro Señor. La necesidad 
suprema del mundo es aceptar sus enseñanzas en todos los asuntos de los hombres y las naciones, y la 
aplicación prác�ca de su ley de amor.  
Is. 2:4; Mt. 5:9, 38-48; 6:33; 26:52; Lc. 22:36, 38; Ro. 12:18-19; 13:1-7; 14:19; Heb. 12:14; Stg. 4:1-2  

XVII. LIBERTAD DE RELIGION  
Solo Dios es el Señor de la conciencia, y Él la ha dejado libre de las doctrinas y mandamientos de los hombres 
que son contrarios a su Palabra o no se encuentran en ella. La iglesia y el estado deben estar separados. El 
estado le debe a toda iglesia protección y completa libertad en la prosecución de sus fines espirituales. Al 
conceder esta libertad e estado no debe favorecer a ningún grupo eclesiás�co o denominación más que a los 
demás. El gobierno civil es ordenado por Dios, y es deber de todos los cris�anos rendirle obediencia leal en 



118 

todas las cosas que no son contrarias a la voluntad divina revelada. La iglesia no debe recurrir al poder civil 
para realizar su obra. El evangelio de Cristo considera solo medios espirituales para el logro de sus fines. El 
estado no �ene derecho alguno de imponer cas�gos por opiniones religiosas de cualquier clase. El estado no 
�ene derecho de imponer contribuciones para sostener alguna forma de religión. Una iglesia libre en un 
estado libre es el ideal cris�ano, y esto implica el derecho de todos los hombres de tener acceso libre y sin 
impedimento a Dios, y el derecho de formular y propagar opiniones en la esfera de religión sin la interferencia 
del poder civil.  
Gn. 1:27; 2:7; Mt. 6:6-7, 24; 16:26; 22:21; Jn. 8:36; Hch. 4:19-20; Ro. 6:1-2; 13:1-7; Gl. 5:1, 13; Flp. 3:20; 1 
Tim. 2:1-2; Stg. 4:12; 1 P. 2:12-17; 3:11-17; 4:12-19  

  
 



119 

ADDENDUM B 
ENMIENDA DE 1998 A LA FE Y MENSAJE BAUTISTAS 

XVIII. La familia 
Dios ha ordenado la familia como la ins�tución fundamental de la sociedad humana. Se compone de personas 
relacionadas entre sí por matrimonio, sangre o adopción. 

El matrimonio es la unión de un hombre y una mujer en un compromiso de alianza para toda la vida. Es el don 
único de Dios para revelar la unión entre Cristo y Su Iglesia y para proporcionar al hombre y a la mujer en el 
matrimonio el marco para la compañía ín�ma, el canal de expresión sexual de acuerdo con las normas bíblicas 
y los medios para la procreación de la raza humana. 

El marido y la mujer �enen el mismo valor ante Dios, ya que ambos han sido creados a su imagen. La relación 
matrimonial modela el modo en que Dios se relaciona con su pueblo. El marido debe amar a su mujer como 
Cristo amó a la Iglesia. Él �ene la responsabilidad dada por Dios de proveer, proteger y guiar a su familia. Una 
esposa debe someterse con gracia al liderazgo de servicio de su marido, así como la iglesia se somete 
voluntariamente al liderazgo de Cristo. Ella, siendo a imagen de Dios como lo es su marido y por lo tanto igual 
a él, �ene la responsabilidad dada por Dios de respetar a su marido y servir como su ayudante en la ges�ón del 
hogar y la crianza de la próxima generación. 

Los hijos, desde el momento de la concepción, son una bendición y una herencia del Señor. Los padres deben 
demostrar a sus hijos el modelo de Dios para el matrimonio. Los padres deben enseñar a sus hijos valores 
espirituales y morales y guiarlos, a través del ejemplo de un es�lo de vida consistente y una disciplina 
amorosa, a tomar decisiones basadas en la verdad bíblica. Los hijos deben honrar y obedecer a sus padres. 
Gén 1:26-28; 2:15-25; 3:1-20; Éxo 20:12; Deu 6:4-9; Jos 24:15; 1 Sam 1:26-28; Sal 51:5; 78:1-8; 127; 128; 139:13-16; Pro 1:8; 5:15-20; 
6:20-22; 12:4; 13:24; 14:1; 17:6; 18:22; 22:6,15; 23:13-14; 24:3; 29:15,17; 31: 10-31; Ecl 4:9-12; 9:9; Mal 2:14-16; Mat 5:31-32; 18:2-
5; 19:3-9; Mar 10:6-12; Rom 1:18-32; 1 Cor 7:1-16; Efe 5:21-33; 6:1-4; Col 3:18-21; 1 Tim 5:8,14; 2 Tim 1:3-5; Tit 2:3-5; Heb 13:4; 1 
Pedro 3:1-7. 


	10:30 am First Session
	11:30 am Business Session
	10:30 am Primera Sesión
	11:30 Sesión de trabajo
	Associational Council Report
	Search Committee Report
	Informe del Consejo de Asociación
	Informe del Comité de Búsqueda
	Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association
	Director of Missions Job Description
	Asociación Bautista del Valle Del Río Grande
	Director de Misiones Descripción Del Puesto
	September 2023 Financial Reports
	Church Donations Advancement
	October 2023 Report
	Avance de las Donaciones de las Iglesias
	Informe Octubre 2023

	2023 Rio Grande Valley Baptist Association
	112th Annual Meeting
	NEW BUSINESS ITEMS
	2024 Proposed Budget
	Nominating Committee Report
	Informe del Comité de Candidaturas

	2023 Proposed Constitution & By-laws
	ADDENDUM A
	ADDENDUM B
	1998 AMENDMENT TO THE BAPTIST FAITH AND MESSAGE
	ADDENDUM A
	La Fe y Mensaje Bautista
	DECLARACION DE 1963
	ADDENDUM B
	ENMIENDA DE 1998 A LA FE Y MENSAJE BAUTISTAS

